New York Journal of Mathematics

New York J. Math. 30 (2024) 187-230.

Sewing and propagation of conformal blocks

Bin Gui

ABSTRACT. Propagation is a standard way of producing certain new conformal blocks from old ones that corresponds to the geometric procedure of adding new distinct points to a pointed compact Riemann surface. On the other hand, sewing conformal blocks corresponds to sewing compact Riemann surfaces.

In this article, we clarify the relationships between these two procedures. Most importantly, we show that, "sewing and propagation are commuting procedures." More precisely: let ϕ be a conformal block associated to a vertex operator algebra V and a compact Riemann surface to be sewn, and let $\ell^n \phi$ be its *n*-times propagation. If the sewing $\widetilde{S}\phi$ converges, then $\widetilde{S}\ell^n \phi$ (the sewing of $\ell^n \phi$) automatically converges, and it equals $\ell^n \widetilde{S}\phi$ (the *n*-times propagation of the sewing $\widetilde{S}\phi$).

The proof of this result relies on establishing the propagation of conformal blocks associated to *holomorphic* families of compact Riemann surfaces. We prove this in our paper using the idea that, "propagation is itself a sewing followed by an analytic continuation." This result generalizes previous ones on single Riemann surfaces [Zhu94, FB04], and supplements those on *algebraic* families of complex algebraic curves [Cod19, DGT19a].

The results in this paper will be used in [Gui21] as the main technical tools to relate the (genus-0) permutation-twisted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes k}$ -conformal blocks (i.e. intertwining operators) and the untwisted \mathbb{V} -conformal blocks (of possibly higher genera).

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	188
2.	The geometric setting	194
3.	Sheaves of VOA	197
4.	Conformal blocks	200
5.	Sewing conformal blocks	202
6.	An equivalence of sheaves	206
7.	Propagation of conformal blocks	209
8.	Multi-propagation	213
9.	Sewing and multi-propagation	216

Received December 31, 2022.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. 17B69.

Key words and phrases. Vertex operator algebras, conformal blocks, Riemann surfaces. The author was supported by BMSTC and ACZSP (Grant no. Z221100002722017).

10. A geome	etric construction of permutation-twisted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes k}$ -modules	219
Appendix A.	Strong residue theorem for analytic families of curves	225
References		228

1. Introduction

Propagating conformal blocks. Let \mathbb{V} be a vertex operator algebra (VOA) with vacuum vector **1**. Let $\mathfrak{X} = (C; x_1, ..., x_N; \eta_1, ..., \eta_N)$ be an *N*-pointed compact Riemann surface with local coordinates, namely, each connected component of the compact Riemann surface *C* contains at least one of the distinct marked points $x_1, ..., x_N$, and each η_j is an injective holomorphic function on a neighborhood of x_j sending x_j to 0 (i.e., an (analytic) local coordinate at x_j). Associate to each x_j a \mathbb{V} -module \mathbb{W}_j . Then a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X} and $\mathbb{W}_{\cdot} = \mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{W}_N$ is a linear functional $\phi : \mathbb{W}_{\cdot} \to \mathbb{C}$ "invariant" under the actions of \mathbb{V} (Cf. [Zhu94, FB04, DGT19a]). When *C* is the Riemann sphere \mathbb{P}^1 , the simplest examples of conformal blocks are as follows. (We let ζ be the standard coordinate of \mathbb{C} .)

(1) $\mathfrak{X} = (\mathbb{P}^1; 0; \zeta), \mathbb{W}$ is associated to the marked point 0. Then each $T \in \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{V}}(\mathbb{W}, \mathbb{V}')$ (where \mathbb{V}' is the contragredient module of the vacuum \mathbb{V}) provides a conformal block

$$w \in \mathbb{W} \mapsto \langle Tw, \mathbf{1} \rangle$$

Here $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ refers to the standard pairing of \mathbb{V} and \mathbb{V}' . Of particular interest is the case that an isomorphism of \mathbb{V} -modules $T : \mathbb{V} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{V}'$ exists and is fixed. Then there is a canonical conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{V} .

(2) $\mathfrak{X} = (\mathbb{P}^1; 0, \infty; \zeta, \zeta^{-1})$, and \mathbb{W}, \mathbb{W}' are associated to $0, \infty$. Then we have a conformal block

$$\tau_{\mathbb{W}} : \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{W}' \to \mathbb{C}, w \otimes w' \mapsto \langle w, w' \rangle. \tag{1}$$

(3) $\mathfrak{X} = (\mathbb{P}^1; 0, z, \infty; \zeta, \zeta - z, \zeta^{-1})$, and $\mathbb{W}, \mathbb{V}, \mathbb{W}'$ are associated to $0, z, \infty$. The the vertex operation *Y* for \mathbb{W} defines a conformal block

$$w \otimes v \otimes w' \in \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}' \mapsto \langle Y(v, z)w, w' \rangle.$$
⁽²⁾

Now, we add a new point $y \in C \setminus \{x_1, ..., x_N\}$ (together with a local coordinate μ) to \mathfrak{X} and call this new data $\{\mathfrak{X}_y, \mathfrak{and}\}$ associate the vacuum module \mathbb{V} to y. Then each conformal block $\phi : \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \to \mathbb{C}$ associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} canonically gives rise to one $\{\phi_y : \mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \to \mathbb{C}\}$ associated to $\{\mathfrak{X}_y, \mathfrak{and}\} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$, called the **propagation** of ϕ at y. The propagation is uniquely determined by the fact that

$$\partial \phi(\mathbf{1} \otimes w_{\bullet})_{y} = \phi(w_{\bullet}). \tag{3}$$

For example, it follows easily from such uniqueness that the third example above is the propagation of the second one at *z*, i.e.

$$\wr \tau_{\mathbb{W}}(v \otimes w \otimes w)_{z} = \langle Y(v, z)w, w' \rangle.$$

More generally, when $y \in C$ is close to x_i and the local coordinate μ at y is $\eta_i - \eta_i(y)$,

$$\partial \phi(v \otimes w_{\bullet})_{v} = \phi(w_{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes Y(v, \eta_{i}(y))w_{i} \otimes \cdots \otimes w_{N})$$

$$\tag{4}$$

where the right hand side converges absolutely as a formal Laurent series of $\eta_j(y)$. (Cf. [Zhu94, Thm. 6.2], [FB04, Chapter 10], or Thm. 7.1 of this article.) The uniqueness of $\lambda \phi$ satisfying (3) is not hard to show; what is more difficult is to prove the existence of propagation (cf. [TUY89, Zhu94, Zhu96, FB04, Cod19, DGT19a]).

Sewing conformal blocks. It is worth noting that the right hand side of (4) is the sewing of ϕ and $\wr \tau_{W}$ (=the conformal block defined in (2)) corresponding the geometric sewing of *C* and \mathbb{P}^{1} along the points x_{i}, ∞ with respect to their local coordinates η_{i}, ζ^{-1} . In general, given an (N+2)-pointed compact Riemann surface with local coordinates $\tilde{\mathbf{X}} = (\tilde{C}; x_{1}, ..., x_{N}, x', x''; \eta_{1}, ..., \eta_{N}, \xi, \varpi)$ where each connected component of \tilde{C} intersects $\{x_{1}, ..., x_{N}\}$, if ξ (resp. ϖ) is defined on a neighborhood W' of x' (resp. W'' of x'') such that $\xi(W')$ is the open disc \mathcal{D}_{r} with radius r (resp. $\varpi(W'') = \mathcal{D}_{\rho}$), and that W' (resp. W'') contains only one point among $x_{1}, ..., x_{N}, x', x''$. Then for each $0 < |q| < r\rho$, we remove

$$F' = \{ y \in W' : |\xi(y)| \le |q|/\rho \}, \qquad F'' = \{ y \in W'' : |\varpi(y)| \le |q|/r \},$$

from \widetilde{C} , and glue the remaining part by identifying all $y' \in W'$ with $y'' \in W''$ if $\xi(y')\varpi(y'') = q$. As a result, we obtain a new compact Riemann surface C_q with marked points x_1, \ldots, x_N and local coordinates η_1, \ldots, η_N . We denote this data by \mathfrak{X}_q . Corresponding to this geometric sewing, we associated \mathbb{V} -modules $\mathbb{W}_1, \ldots, \mathbb{W}_N, \mathbb{M}, \mathbb{M}'$ to the marked points $x_1, \ldots, x_N, x', x''$ where \mathbb{M}' is contragredient to \mathbb{M} , and assume that the modules are \mathbb{N} -gradable (i.e., admissible) with grading operator \widetilde{L}_0 such that each graded subspace is finite-dimensional. $q^{\widetilde{L}_0} \in \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{M})[[q]]$ can be regarded as an element of $\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'[[q]]$, which we denote by $q^{\widetilde{L}_0} \triangleright \otimes \blacktriangleleft$. If $\psi : \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \to \mathbb{C}$ is a conformal block associated to $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$, we define a linear $\widetilde{S}\psi : \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \to \mathbb{C}[[q]]$ sending each $w \in \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$ to

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}\psi(w) = \psi(w \otimes q^{L_0}) \otimes \blacktriangleleft.$$
(5)

It was shown in [DGT19b, Thm. 8.5.1] that the above linear map defines a "formal conformal block" (i.e., a "conformal block" when *q* is infinitesimal). If this series converges absolutely on $|q| < r\rho$, then it defines an actual conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X}_q [Gui23, Thm. 11.2], called the **sewing** of ψ .

In the above process, if \tilde{C} is connected, then \mathcal{C}_q is the self-sewing of \tilde{C} . For instance, if we sew the \mathfrak{X} in the above example 3 along 0 and ∞ to get a torus, we accordingly sew the conformal block (2) to obtain the (normalized) character of W-module $v \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}(Y(v, z)q^{\tilde{L}_0})$, which plays an important role in the early development of VOA theory. If \tilde{C} has two connected component \tilde{C}_1, \tilde{C}_2 , and if we sew \tilde{C} along $x' \in \tilde{C}_1, x'' \in \tilde{C}_2$, we obtain a connected sum of \tilde{C}_1 and \tilde{C}_2 . If we choose $\tilde{C} = C \sqcup \mathbb{P}^1$ and sew \tilde{C} along $x_i \in C$ and $\infty \in \mathbb{P}^1$, then at q = 1, the corresponding sewing of the conformal blocks ϕ and (2) is just (4), and the new Riemann surface we get is naturally equivalent to *C*.

Propagation is a sewing followed by an analytic continuation. Now, (4) indicates that propagation and sewing are related. Roughly speaking, propagation can be understood as follows: When the inserted point y is close to a marked point x_i , the propagation is defined by sewing. When y is far from the marked points, the propagation is defined by analytic continuation (provided that it exists). (See Exp. 5.6 and the proof of Thm. 7.1 for details.)

The above important point is implicit in the literature ([Zhu94, Zhu96]). However, it seems that no existing result relies completely on this idea (and especially on sewing) to establish the existence of propagation. The first result for general VOAs over Riemann surfaces is due to Zhu [Zhu94]. Zhu used analytic methods to establish the propagation of conformal blocks over a single compact Riemann surface. However, instead of using sewing in the proof, he constructed propagation using certain "Verma modules". (See [Zhu94, Thm. 6.1]) A more algebraic approach was later given in [FB04, Thm. 10.3.1]. Propagation over *algebraic* families of complex algebraic curves was given in [Cod19, Thm. 3.6] and [DGT19a, Thm. 5.1]. Instead of using sewing in their proofs, they used a PBW basis instead. (In fact, the analytic sewing is unavailable in algebraic geometry.)

Unlike previous approaches to propagation, ours is based largely on the above understanding of propagation (i.e. it is sewing+analytic continuation). Let us explain it in more details below.

Main result: propagation of analytic families of conformal blocks. The first main result of this article is Thm. 7.1, which establishes the propagation of conformal blocks for a *holomorphic* family of compact Riemann surfaces with marked points. Roughly speaking, Thm. 7.1 says the following: Suppose that we have a (holomorphic) family \mathfrak{X} of compact Riemann surfaces with marked points. Let \mathcal{B} be a base manifold with holomorphic parameters $\tau_{\cdot} = (\tau_1, ..., \tau_m)$. Suppose that a holomorphic section $\varphi = \varphi(\tau_{\cdot})$ of conformal blocks associated to \mathfrak{X} is given. Then its propagation $\wr \varphi = \wr \varphi(\tau_{\cdot}, z)$ exists as a section which is simultaneously holomorphic with respect to τ_{\cdot} and z. Here z is (locally) a parameter on the fibers of Riemann surfaces.

I have mentioned that propagation over a single Riemann surface was already proved in the literature. However, one cannot use fiberwise propagation to construct $\partial \varphi$ for a family of surfaces: it implies only that $\partial \varphi(\tau_{\bullet}, z)$ is holomorphic over z for each fixed τ_{\bullet} , but not that $\partial \varphi(\tau_{\bullet}, z)$ is holomorphic over τ_{\bullet} for each fixed z (even if we know that $\varphi(\tau_{\bullet})$ is holomorphic over τ_{\bullet}).

Ideas of the proof of Thm. 7.1. Compare to the results already existing in the literature, the most novel part in Thm. 7.1 is that the holomorphicity of $\varphi(\tau_{\cdot})$ with respect to τ_{\cdot} implies the (simultaneous) holomorphicity of $\partial \varphi(\tau_{\cdot}, z)$ with respect to τ_{\cdot} , z. Our main tool for proving this fact is the **strong residue theorem** for holomorphic families of compact Riemann surfaces, given in Thm.

A.1. Roughly speaking, the (classical) strong residue theorem says the following: Suppose that to each marked point of a compact Riemann surface a formal Laurent series is associated. Then these formal Laurent series are expansions of a meromorphic section with possible poles only at these marked points if and only if it satisfies the residue theorem when multiplied by any meromorphic 1forms with possible poles only at these points. The classical strong residue theorem is an easy application Serre's duality for holomorphic bundles on compact Riemann surfaces (cf. [Ueno08, Sec. 1.2.3]). Its generalization to holomorphic families (i.e. Thm. A.1) is more involved: our proof combines Serre's duality with Grauert's base change theorem in an appropriate way.

Another feature of our proof of Thm. 7.1 is that we uses essentially the viewpoint that propagation is a sewing followed by an analytic continuation. In fact, in the proof of Thm. 7.1, we first establish the existence of $\partial \varphi(\tau, z)$ when z is neared a marked point. We prove this part by using the fact that $\partial \varphi(\tau, z)$ is a sewing of $\varphi(\tau)$ and a 3-pointed genus 0 conformal block. Then we perform the analytic continuation. The details of this sewing construction are given in Exp. 5.6.

In particular, this viewpoint allows us to prove that $\partial \varphi$ is a conformal block (but not just an arbitrary element) when *z* is near the marked points by using the nontrivial fact that the sewing of a conformal block is again a conformal block as long as the sewing is convergent, cf. Thm. 5.5. (This theorem was originally proved in [Gui23, Thm. 11.3].) It is precisely this part that plays the role of the construction of certain Verma modules in the proof of [Zhu94], and that of the PBW basis in the proofs of [Cod19, DGT19a]. Similarly, in the proof of Thm. 7.1 we also need the fact that the analytic continuation of a conformal block is a conformal block, as proved in [Gui23, Prop. 6.4] (cf. Prop. 4.2).

Main result: sewing and propagation are commuting. Using Thm. 7.1 and induction, it is now easy to prove Thm. 9.1, another main result of this article, which says roughly that "sewing commutes with propagation".

Roughly speaking, Thm. 9.1 says the following: Suppose that ψ is a conformal block associated to a compact Riemann surface with marked point. Suppose that the sewing $\tilde{\delta}\psi = (5)$ along a pair of marked points is convergent. Then we have

$$\partial^n \widetilde{S} \psi = \widetilde{S} \partial^n \psi, \tag{6}$$

where both sides are well-defined holomorphic sections.

Note that Thm. 9.1 shows, in particular, that the convergence of $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}\psi$ implies automatically the convergence/analyticity of the sewing $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}} \wr^n \psi$. This nontrivial phenomenon first appeared in a prominent way in [Zhu96]. In that paper, Zhu first used differential equations to establish the analyticity of 1-pointed conformal blocks of genus-1 for C_2 -cofinite VOAs. Then he used his recurrent formula to prove that the *n*-pointed conformal blocks of genus-1 are analytic when all the marked points are associated with the vacuum module \mathbb{V} . His proof of "1-pointed convergence/analyticity implies *n*-pointed analyticity" in genus 1 by recurrent formula does not rely on C_2 -cofiniteness or differential equations. However, this phenomenon in higher genus was not further investigated in [Zhu94].

In the proof of Thm. 9.1, the analyticity of $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}} \wr^n \psi$ follows from that of $\wr^n \widetilde{\mathcal{S}} \psi$ (since they are locally equal as formal power series). The analyticity of $\wr^n \widetilde{\mathcal{S}} \psi$ is an easy consequence of Thm. 7.1 (applied inductively to the propagation of the holomorphic family of conformal blocks $\wr^{n-1} \widetilde{\mathcal{S}} \psi$).

Applications. We give an application of Theorem 9.1. Let

$$\mathfrak{Y} = (C; x_1, \dots, x_N; \eta_1, \dots, \eta_N),$$

associate \mathbb{W}_j to x_j for each j, and choose a conformal block $\phi : \mathbb{W}_{\cdot} \to \mathbb{C}$ associated to \mathfrak{Y} . Choose $1 \leq i \leq N$. Let $\mathfrak{P} = (\mathbb{P}^1; 0, \infty; \zeta, \zeta^{-1})$, and associate $\mathbb{W}_i, \mathbb{W}'_i$ to $0, \infty$. Then $\psi := \phi \otimes \tau_{\mathbb{W}_i} : \mathbb{W}_{\cdot} \otimes \mathbb{W}_i \otimes \mathbb{W}'_i \to \mathbb{C}$ (recall (1)) is a conformal block associate to the disjoint union $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}} = \mathfrak{Y} \sqcup \mathfrak{P}$. If we sew $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ along $x_i \in C$ and $\infty \in \mathbb{P}^1$ at q, the new pointed Riemann surface with local coordinates \mathfrak{X}_q is

$$\mathfrak{X}_q = (C; x_1, \dots, x_N; \eta_1, \dots, q^{-1}\eta_i, \dots, \eta_N),$$

and (setting $w_{\bullet} = w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N$ as usual)

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}\psi(w_{\bullet}) = \phi(w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes q^{L_0} w_i \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N), \tag{7}$$

which clearly converges absolutely for all q. Assume η_i is defined on an open disc $W_i \ni x_i$ such that $\eta_i(W_i) = \mathcal{D}_{r_i}$ has radius r_i , and that W_i contains only x_i among x_1, \ldots, x_N . Choose r > 0. Then, according to our main result, the sewing of *n*-propagation

$$S \wr^{n} \psi(v_{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes v_{n} \otimes w_{\bullet})_{\eta_{i}^{-1}(qz_{1}),\dots,\eta_{i}^{-1}(qz_{n})}$$

= $\phi(w_{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes w_{i-1} \otimes q^{\widetilde{L}_{0}}) \otimes w_{i+1} \otimes \cdots \otimes w_{N})$
 $\cdot \wr^{n} \tau_{\mathbb{W}_{i}}(v_{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes v_{n} \otimes w_{i} \otimes \P)_{z_{1},\dots,z_{n}}$

(assuming that the local coordinate at each $z_j \in \mathbb{P}^1$ is $\zeta - z_j$, and the one at $\eta_i^{-1}(qz_j) \in C$ is $q^{-1}\eta_i - z_j$) converges absolutely and uniformly when z_1, \ldots, z_n vary on any compact set of the configuration space $\operatorname{Conf}^n(\mathcal{D}_r^{\times})$ (where $\mathcal{D}_r^{\times} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < |z| < r\}$) and when $|q| < r_i/r$.

We are especially interested in the case that q = 1, which is accessible when $r < r_i$, namely, when $0 < |z_1|, ..., |z_n| < r_i$. Then $\partial^n \widetilde{S} \psi = \widetilde{S} \partial^n \psi$ implies (notice (7))

$$\mathcal{U}^n \phi(v_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes v_n \otimes w_{\bullet})_{\eta_i^{-1}(z_1),\dots,\eta_i^{-1}(z_n)}$$

$$= \phi(w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_{i-1} \otimes \blacktriangleright \otimes w_{i+1} \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N) \tag{8}$$

$$\cdot \wr^n \tau_{\mathbb{W}_i}(v_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes v_n \otimes w_i \otimes \blacktriangleleft)_{z_1, \dots, z_n}.$$
(9)

In the special case that $0 < |z_1| < \cdots < |z_n| < r_i$, the above relation becomes

$$\lambda^{n} \phi(v_{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes v_{n} \otimes w_{\bullet})_{\eta_{i}^{-1}(z_{1}),\dots,\eta_{i}^{-1}(z_{n})}$$
$$=\phi(w_{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes Y(v_{n}, z_{n}) \cdots Y(v_{1}, z_{1})w_{i} \otimes \cdots \otimes w_{N})$$
(10)

where the right hand side converges absolutely. Zhu proved relation (10) in [Zhu94, Thm. 6.2] when $v_1, ..., v_n$ are primary, or when the local coordinates are contained in a projective structure (i.e., an atlas whose transition functions are Möbius transforms). But, as explained below, the general case, especially when $0 < |z_1| = \cdots = |z_n| < r_i$, is also important.

Take an automorphism g of $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes k}$ to be the permutation associated to the cycle $(12 \cdots k)$. Starting from a \mathbb{V} -module \mathbb{W} , Barron-Dong-Mason constructed in [BDM02] a (canonical) g-twisted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes k}$ -module structure on the same vector space \mathbb{W} . In particular, they explicitly described the twisted vertex operator Y^g for vectors in $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes k}$ of the form $\mathbf{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes v \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbf{1}$. For an arbitrary vector of $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes k}$, the Y^g can then be described using normal ordering. Their proof that Y^g satisfies the axioms of a g-twisted module is algebraic, and in particular relies on a previous algebraic result of [Li96]. Recently, another algebraic proof was given by Dong-Xu-Yu in [DXY21] using Zhu's algebras.

Now, our observation in this article is that since $Y^g(v_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes v_k, z)$ can be described by $\ell^k \tau_{W_i}$ at (z_1, \dots, z_k) (where z_1, \dots, z_k are the distinct *k*-th roots of unity of *z*), using the consequences of our main result such as relation (9), we can give a geometric and complex-analytic proof that Y^g satisfies the axioms of a *g*-twisted module. Namely, we check that Y^g satisfies the complex-analytic version of Jacobi identity (as in [Hua10]). See Sec. 10 for details. Our proof is in the same spirit as checking the Jacobi identity for VOA modules using contour integrals. Note that the geometric meaning of Barron-Dong-Mason's construction of twisted modules was given in [BDM02, BHL08], but the verification in [BDM02] that these twisted modules satisfy Jacobi identity is purely algebraic. The merit of our approach, on the other hand, is that we use geometric methods to prove results about mathematical objects with geometric origins.

Moreover, our complex-analytic method will be generalized in [Gui21] to construct permutation twisted conformal blocks from untwisted ones, and vice versa. As an important consequence, the fusion rules for permutation twisted modules of a strongly rational VOA will be completely determined in [Gui21].

Outline. This article is organized as follows. In Section 2, we fix the geometric notations used in later sections, and define the (multi) propagations for an (analytic) family of compact Riemann surfaces. In the case of a single compact Riemann surface *C* with marked points $S = \{x_1, ..., x_N\}$, its *n*-propagation is easy to describe: If we let several distinct points $y_1, ..., y_n$ move on $C \setminus S$, we obtain a family of compact Riemann surfaces (all isomorphic to *C*) with *N* fixed marked points and *n* varying points over the base manifold Conf^{*n*}($C \setminus S$).

We recall the definitions and basic properties of sheaves of VOAs (i.e. VOA bundles) and conformal blocks in Sections 3 and 4. In Section 5, we recall some

important facts about the sewing of conformal blocks associated to the sewing of a family of compact Riemann surfaces. In Section 6, we relate sheaves of VOAs and the \mathcal{W} -sheaves which were naturally introduced to define (sheaves of) conformal blocks.

In Section 7, we give a new proof of conformal block propagation for (analytic) families of compact Riemann surfaces. In particular, we prove that propagation is compatible (in the complex analytic sense) with the deformation of pointed compact Riemann surfaces. Roughly speaking, this means that if the original conformal blocks are parametrized by $\tau \in \mathcal{B}$ where \mathcal{B} is the base manifold of the family, and if the propagation on each fiber is parametrized by z, then the propagation is a multivariable analytic function of (z, τ) . The precise statement is formulated using the language of sheaves; see Thm. 7.1. These results were proved in [Cod19, Thm. 3.6] for CFT type VOAs using a Lie-theoretic method, which relies on the fact that such VOAs have PBW bases. As explained earlier, our proof is based on the idea of sewing, and relies on the Strong Residue Theorem and the fact that the sewing of conformal blocks are conformal blocks [Gui23, Thm. 11.2], whose formal version was proved in [DGT19b].

Note that here we should use the Strong Residue Theorem for analytic families of compact Riemann surfaces. This result is well-known, although we are not able to find a proof in the literature. So we include a proof in the Appendix Section A.

We discuss elementary properties of multi-propagation in Section 8. Most of these important properties were more or less known before (cf. [FB04]) but not explicitly written down. We collect these results under Thm. 8.2 so that they can be directly cited or used in future works on VOA. These results follow rather directly from those in the previous sections.

The main theorem of this article, summarized by the slogan "sewing commutes with propagation", is proved in Section 9. To give an application of this result, we construct in Section 10 permutation-twisted modules for tensor product VOAs.

Acknowledgment. I would like to thank Nicola Tarasca for helpful discussions.

2. The geometric setting

We set $\mathbb{N} = \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ and $\mathbb{Z}_+ = \{1, 2, 3, ...\}$. Let $\mathbb{C}^{\times} = \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$. For each r > 0, we let $\mathcal{D}_r = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < r\}$ and $\mathcal{D}_r^{\times} = \mathcal{D}_r \setminus \{0\}$. For any topological space X, we define the configuration space $\operatorname{Conf}^n(X) = \{(x_1, ..., x_N) \in X^n : x_i \neq x_i \forall 1 \le i < j \le n\}$.

For each complex manifold X, \mathcal{O}_X is the sheaf of holomorphic functions of X. For each $x \in X$ and any \mathcal{O}_X -module \mathscr{E} , \mathscr{E}_x is the stalk of \mathscr{E} at x. $\mathfrak{m}_{X,x}$ (or simply \mathfrak{m}_x when no confusion arises) is by definition $\{f \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x} : f(x) = 0\}$. $\mathscr{E}|_x := \mathscr{E}_x/\mathfrak{m}_x \mathscr{E}_x \simeq \mathscr{E} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{O}_{X,x}/\mathfrak{m}_x$ is the fiber of \mathscr{E} at x. More generally, if Y is a closed complex sub-manifold of X with \mathscr{I}_Y being the ideal sheaf (the sheaf of all sections of \mathcal{O}_X vanishing at *Y*), then the restriction $\mathcal{E}|_Y$ is defined to be $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{O}_X / \mathcal{I}_Y$ (restricted to the set *Y*). We suppress the subscript \mathcal{O}_X under \otimes when taking tensor products of \mathcal{O}_X -modules. If *s* is a section of \mathcal{E} , then $s|_Y$ is the corresponding value $s \otimes 1$ in $\mathcal{E}|_Y$.

(For the readers not familiar with the language of sheaf of modules: we only consider the case that \mathscr{E} is locally free (with finite or infinite rank), i.e., a holomorphic vector bundle. Then $\mathscr{E}|_Y$ resp. $s|_Y$ is the usual restriction of the vector bundle resp. vector field to the submanifold *Y*.)

If $\mathscr E$ is locally free, $\mathscr E^\vee$ denotes its dual vector bundle.

For a Riemann surface *C*, its cotangent line bundle is denoted by ω_C .

A family of compact Riemann surfaces \mathfrak{X} is by definition a holomorphic proper map of complex manifolds

$$\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B})$$

that is a submersion and satisfies that each fiber $\mathcal{C}_b := \pi^{-1}(b)$ (where $b \in \mathcal{B}$) is a (non-necessarily connected) compact Riemann surface.

A family of N-pointed compact Riemann surfaces is by definition

$$\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}; \varsigma_1, \dots, \varsigma_N) \tag{11}$$

where $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a family of compact Riemann surfaces, each section $\varsigma_j : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ is holomorphic and satisfies $\pi \circ \varsigma_j = \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{B}}$, and any two $\varsigma_i(\mathcal{B}), \varsigma_j(\mathcal{B})$ (where $1 \le i < j \le N$) are disjoint. Unless otherwise stated, we also assume that every connected component of each fiber

$$\mathcal{C}_h = \pi^{-1}(b)$$

(where $b \in \mathcal{B}$) contains at least one of $\varsigma_1(b), ..., \varsigma_N(b)$. We set

$$\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{X}}_b = (\mathcal{C}_b; \varsigma_1(b), \dots, \varsigma_N(b)),$$

which is an *N*-pointed compact Riemann surface. We define closed submanifold

$$S_{\mathfrak{X}} = \bigcup_{j=1}^{N} \varsigma_j(\mathcal{B}),$$

considered also as a divisor of C. For any sheaf of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ -module \mathcal{E} , and for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we set

$$\mathscr{E}(nS_{\mathfrak{X}}) := \mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{C}}(nS_{\mathfrak{X}}),$$
$$\mathscr{E}(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}}) = \varinjlim_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathscr{E}(nS_{\mathfrak{X}}).$$

When \mathscr{E} is a vector bundle, $\mathscr{E}(nS_{\mathfrak{X}})$ is the sheaf of sections of \mathscr{E} which possibly has poles at each $\varsigma_i(\mathcal{B})$ with order at most *n*.

For each $1 \leq j \leq N$, a **local coordinate** of \mathfrak{X} at ς_j is defined to be a holomorphic function $\eta_j \in \mathcal{O}(W_i)$ (where W_i is a neighborhood of $\varsigma_i(\mathcal{B})$) which is injective on each fiber $W_i \cap \pi^{-1}(b)$ and has value 0 on $\varsigma_i(\mathcal{B})$. It follows that (π, η_i) is a biholomorphism from W_i to a neighborhood of $\mathcal{B} \times \{0\}$ in $\mathcal{B} \times \mathbb{C}$.

 $\eta_j|_{\mathcal{C}_b}$ is a local coordinate of the fiber \mathcal{C}_b at the point $\varsigma_j(b)$, which identifies a neighborhood of $\varsigma_j(b)$ (say $W_j \cap \mathcal{C}_b$) with an open subset of \mathbb{C} such that $\varsigma_j(b)$ is identified with the origin. If \mathfrak{X} is equipped with local coordinates η_1, \ldots, η_N at $\varsigma_1(\mathcal{B}), \ldots, \varsigma_N(\mathcal{B})$ respectively, we set

$$\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{X}}_{b} = (\mathcal{C}_{b}; \varsigma_{1}(b), \dots, \varsigma_{N}(b); \eta_{1}|_{\mathcal{C}_{b}}, \dots, \eta_{N}|_{\mathcal{C}_{b}}).$$

In particular, $S_{\mathfrak{X}_b} = \sum_i \varsigma_j(b)$ is a divisor of \mathcal{C}_b .

Now, we let $\mathfrak{X} = (11)$ be *N*-pointed but not necessarily equipped with local coordinates. Define the **propagated family** $\wr \mathfrak{X}$ as follows. Consider the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{B}} (\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{C} \\ \downarrow^{\iota \pi} \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\pi} \\ \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{B} \end{array}$$

where $\mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{B}} (\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}})$ is the closed submanifold of $\mathcal{C} \times (\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}})$ consisting of all (x, y) satisfying $\pi(x) = \pi(y)$, the first horizontal arrow is the projection onto the first component, and $\lambda \pi$ is the projection onto the second component. We set

$$\partial \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}, \qquad \partial \mathcal{C} = \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{B}} (\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}).$$

The holomorphic section $\sigma : \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{B}} (\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}})$ is set to be the diagonal map, i.e.,

$$\sigma: x \mapsto (x, x).$$

Define sections

$$\partial \varsigma_j : \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{B}} (\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}), \qquad x \mapsto (\varsigma_j \circ \pi(x), x).$$

Then we obtain an (N + 1)-pointed family $\wr \mathfrak{X}$ of compact Riemann surfaces to be

$$\partial \mathfrak{X} = (\partial \pi : \partial \mathcal{C} \to \partial \mathcal{B}; \sigma, \partial \zeta_1, \dots, \partial \zeta_N).$$
(12)

Intuitively, $\wr \mathfrak{X}$ is the result of adding one extra marked point to each fiber \mathcal{C}_b disjoint from $S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}$, letting this marked point vary on $\mathcal{C}_b \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}$ over all $b \in \mathcal{B}$, and fixing the other marked points.

One can define multi-propagation inductively by $\wr^n \mathfrak{X} = \wr \wr^{n-1} \mathfrak{X}$, which corresponds to varying *n* extra distinct points of $\mathcal{C}_b \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}$. Write

$$\ell^{n} \mathfrak{X} = (\ell^{n} \pi : \ell^{n} \mathcal{C} \to \ell^{n} \mathcal{B}; \sigma_{1}, \dots, \sigma_{n}, \ell^{n} \varsigma_{1}, \dots, \ell^{n} \varsigma_{N}).$$

Then $\wr^n \mathfrak{X}$ can be described in a more explicit way. Let

$$\prod_{\mathcal{B}}^{n} \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}} = \underbrace{(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \times_{\mathcal{B}} \cdots \times_{\mathcal{B}} (\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}})}_{n}$$

which is the set of all $(x_1, ..., x_n) \in \prod^n \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$ satisfying $\pi(x_1) = \cdots = \pi(x_n)$. Define the relative configuration space

$$\operatorname{Conf}_{\mathcal{B}}^{n}(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}) = \left\{ (x_{1}, \dots, x_{N}) \in \prod_{\mathcal{B}}^{n} \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}} : x_{i} \neq x_{j} \text{ for any } 1 \leq i < j \leq n \right\}$$

which clearly admits a submersion $\operatorname{Conf}^n_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to \mathcal{B}$ (sending each point (x_1, \dots, x_n) to $\pi(x_1)$). Take

$$\partial^n \pi : \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{B}} \operatorname{Conf}^n_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to \operatorname{Conf}^n_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}).$$

to be the pullback of $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}$ along $\operatorname{Conf}_{\mathcal{B}}^{n}(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to \mathcal{B}$. So we have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{B}} \operatorname{Conf}^{n}_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{C} \\ & \downarrow^{\mathfrak{n}_{\pi}} & \downarrow^{\pi} \\ \operatorname{Conf}^{n}_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{B} \end{array}$$

Then $\wr^n \mathfrak{X}$ is equivalent to

$$(\wr^n \pi : \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{B}} \operatorname{Conf}^n_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to \operatorname{Conf}^n_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}); \sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_n, \wr^n \varsigma_1, \dots, \wr^n \varsigma_N),$$

where

$$\sigma_i(x_1, \dots, x_n) = (x_i, x_1, \dots, x_n),$$

$$\iota^n \varsigma_j(x_1, \dots, x_n) = (\varsigma_j \circ \pi(x_1), x_1, \dots, x_n)$$

for each $1 \le i \le n, 1 \le j \le N, (x_1, ..., x_n) \in \operatorname{Conf}^n_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}).$

3. Sheaves of VOA

For any (\mathbb{C} -)vector space *W*, we define four spaces of formal series

$$W[[z]] = \left\{ \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} w_n z^n : \operatorname{each} w_n \in W \right\},$$
$$W[[z^{\pm 1}]] = \left\{ \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} w_n z^n : \operatorname{each} w_n \in W \right\},$$
$$W((z)) = \left\{ f(z) : z^k f(z) \in W[[z]] \text{ for some } k \in \mathbb{Z} \right\},$$
$$W\{z\} = \left\{ \sum_{n \in \mathbb{C}} w_n z^n : \operatorname{each} w_n \in W \right\}.$$

Throughout this article, \mathbb{V} is an \mathbb{N} -graded vertex operator algebra (VOA) with vacuum **1** and conformal vector **c**. We write $Y(v, z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} Y(v)_n z^{-n-1}$. Then $\{L_n = Y(\mathbf{c})_{n+1}\}$ are Virasoro algebras, and L_0 gives grading $\mathbb{V} = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{V}(n)$, where each $\mathbb{V}(n)$ is finite-dimensional.

In this article, a V-module W means a **finitely-admissible** V-**module**. This means that W is a weak V-module in the sense of [DLM97] with vertex operators $Y_{\mathbb{W}}(v, z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} Y_{\mathbb{W}}(v)_n z^{-n-1}$, that W is equipped with a diagonalizable

operator \widetilde{L}_0 (not to be confused with $L_0 = Y_{\mathbb{W}}(\mathbf{c})_1$ which is not necessarily diagonalizable!) satisfying

$$[\widetilde{L}_0, Y_{\mathbb{W}}(v)_n] = Y_{\mathbb{W}}(L_0 v)_n - (n+1)Y_{\mathbb{W}}(v)_n,$$
(13)

that the eigenvalues of \tilde{L}_0 are in \mathbb{N} , and that each eigenspace $\mathbb{W}(n)$ is finitedimensional. Let

$$\mathbb{W} = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{W}(n)$$

be the grading given by \tilde{L}_0 . Each

$$\mathbb{W}^{\leq n} = \bigoplus_{0 \leq k \leq n} \mathbb{W}(k)$$

is finite-dimensional. We choose the \tilde{L}_0 operator on \mathbb{V} to be L_0 .

We can define the **contragredient** \mathbb{V} -module \mathbb{W}' of \mathbb{W} as in [FHL93]. We choose \widetilde{L}_0 -grading to be

$$\mathbb{W}' = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{W}'(n), \qquad \mathbb{W}'(n) = \mathbb{W}(n)^*.$$

Therefore, if we let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ be the pairing between \mathbb{W} and \mathbb{W}' , then $\langle \widetilde{L}_0 w, w' \rangle = \langle w, \widetilde{L}_0 w' \rangle$ for each $w \in \mathbb{W}, w' \in \mathbb{W}'$.

The vertex operator $Y_{\mathbb{W}}$ for \mathbb{W} (abbreviated as *Y* in the following) gives a linear map $Y : \mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{W}((z))$ sending $v \otimes w$ to Y(v, z)w. We will write $Y_{\mathbb{W}}$ as *Y* when the context is clear. By identifying \mathbb{V} with $\mathbb{V} \otimes 1$ in $\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{C}((z))$ and similarly \mathbb{W} with $\mathbb{W} \otimes 1$ in $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{C}((z))$, *Y* can be extended $\mathbb{C}((z))$ -bilinearly to

$$Y : \left(\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{C}((z)) \right) \otimes \left(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{C}((z)) \right) \to \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{C}((z)),$$

$$Y(u \otimes f, z)w \otimes g = f(z)g(z)Y(u, z)w$$
(14)

(for each $u \in \mathbb{V}, w \in \mathbb{W}, f, g \in \mathbb{C}((z))$). It can furthermore be extended to

$$Y: \left(\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{C}((z))dz\right) \otimes \left(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{C}((z))\right) \to \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{C}((z))dz \tag{15}$$

in an obvious way. Thus, for each $v \in \mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{C}((z))dz$, we can define the residue

$$\operatorname{Res}_{z=0} Y(v, z)w, \tag{16}$$

which, in case $v = u \otimes f dz$, $w = m \otimes g$ where $u \in \mathbb{V}$, $m \in \mathbb{W}$, and $f, g \in \mathbb{C}((z))$, is the W-coefficient of f(z)g(z)Y(v,z)mdz before $z^{-1}dz$.

We define a group $\mathbb{G} = \{f \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C},0} : f(0) = 0, f'(0) \neq 0\}$ where the stalk $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ is the set of holomorphic functions defined on a neighborhood of 0. The multiplication rule of \mathbb{G} is the composition $\rho_1 \circ \rho_2$ of any two elements $\rho_1, \rho_2 \in \mathbb{G}$. By [Hua97], for each \mathbb{V} -module \mathbb{W} , there is a homomorphism $\mathcal{U} : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{W}$ defined in the following way: If we choose the unique $c_0, c_1, c_2 \cdots \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfying

$$\rho(z) = c_0 \cdot \exp\left(\sum_{n>0} c_n z^{n+1} \partial_z\right) z$$

then we necessarily have $c_0 = \rho'(0)$, and we set

$$\mathcal{U}(\rho) = \rho'(0)^{\widetilde{L}_0} \cdot \exp\Big(\sum_{n>0} c_n L_n\Big).$$

Note that although the expression of $\mathcal{U}(\rho)$ involves infinite series, its restriction to each $\mathbb{W}^{\leq k}$ is a finite sum, because each $\sum_{n>0} c_n L_n$ lowers the \widetilde{L}_0 -weights by at least 1 and is therefore nilpotent and equals $\sum_{n=1}^{k} c_n L_n$ on $\mathbb{W}^{\leq k}$.

If X is a complex manifold, a (holomorphic) family of transformations $\rho : X \to \mathbb{G}$ is by definition an analytic function $\rho = \rho(x, z) = \rho_x(z)$ on a neighborhood of $X \times \{0\} \subset X \times \mathbb{C}$. Then $\mathcal{U}(\rho)$ (on each \mathbb{W}) is defined pointwisely, which is an End(\mathbb{W})-valued function on X whose value at each $x \in X$ is $\mathcal{U}(\rho_x)$. $\mathcal{U}(\rho)$ can be regarded as an \mathcal{O}_X -module automorphism of $\mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_X$.

Let $\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B})$ be a family of compact Riemann surfaces. Associated to \mathfrak{X} one can define a sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X -modules $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ as follows. (Cf. [FB04, Chapter 6, 17]; our presentation follows [Gui23, Sec. 5].) First, suppose $U, V \subset \mathcal{C}$ are open subsets, and we have two holomorphic functions $\eta \in \mathcal{O}(U), \mu \in \mathcal{O}(V)$ locally injective (i.e., étale) on each fiber $U_b := U \cap \pi^{-1}(b), V_b = V \cap \pi^{-1}(b)$ ($b \in \mathcal{B}$) of U and V respectively. We can define a family of transformations $\varrho(\eta|\mu)$: $U \cap V \to \mathbb{G}$ as follows: for each $p \in \mathcal{C}$, both $\eta - \eta(p)$ and $\mu - \mu(p)$ restricts to an injective holomorphic function on the fiber $(U \cap V)_{\pi(p)} = U \cap V \cap \pi^{-1}(\pi(p))$ vanishing at p. Then $\varrho(\eta|\mu)_p \in \mathbb{G}$ is determined by

$$\left| \eta - \eta(p) \right|_{(U \cap V)_{\pi(p)}} = \varrho(\eta | \mu)_p \left(\mu - \mu(p) \right|_{(U \cap V)_{\pi(p)}} \right)$$

$$(17)$$

on a neighborhood of $0 \in \mathbb{C}$. Then $\mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta|\mu))$ is an $\mathcal{O}_{U\cap V}$ -module automorphism of $\mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U\cap V}$ which restricts to an automorphism of $\mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U\cap V}$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The cocycle condition $\varrho(\eta|\mu)\varrho(\mu|\nu) = \varrho(\eta|\nu)$ holds for any holomorphic function ν on a neighborhood of \mathcal{C} which is injective on each fiber.

Thus, we can define $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n}$ to be the holomorphic vector bundle on \mathscr{C} which associates to each open $U \subset \mathscr{C}$ and each $\eta \in \mathscr{O}(U)$ locally injective on fibers a trivialization (i.e., an isomorphism of \mathscr{O}_U -modules)

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta): \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n}|_{U} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{U}$$
(18)

such that for another similar $V \subset \mathcal{C}, \mu \in \mathcal{O}(V)$, we have the transition function

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\mu)^{-1} = \mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta|\mu)) : \mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{U \cap V} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{U \cap V}.$$
(19)

If n' > n, we have clearly an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ -module monomorphism $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n} \to \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n'}$ which, for each open $U \subset \mathscr{C}$ and η as above, is transported under the isomorphisms (18) to the canonical monomorphism $\mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_U \to \mathbb{V}^{\leq n'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_U$ defined by the inclusion $\mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{V}^{\leq n'}$. Thus we are allowed to define

$$\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} = \varinjlim_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n}.$$

Alternatively, one can directly define $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ to be the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ -module which is locally free (of infinite rank) and isomorphic to $\mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_U$ via a morphism $\mathcal{U}_{\mathfrak{g}}(\eta)$, and whose transition function is given by $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g}(\eta|\mu))$. We call $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ the **sheaf of VOA** associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{V} . If \mathfrak{X} is a single compact Riemann surface *C*, we write $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ as \mathscr{V}_C .

For each fiber \mathcal{C}_b (where $b \in \mathcal{B}$), we have a canonical equivalence

$$\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}|_{\mathscr{C}_{b}} \simeq \mathscr{V}_{\mathscr{C}_{b}} \equiv \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}_{b}} \tag{20}$$

such that if these two $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}_b}$ -modules are identified by this isomorphism, then the restriction of the trivialization (18) to $U_b = U \cap \pi^{-1}(b)$ equals

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta|_{\mathcal{C}_b}): \mathscr{V}_{\mathcal{C}_b}|_{U_b} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{U_b}.$$

Definition 3.1. Since the vacuum vector **1** is killed by all L_n (where $n \ge 0$), it is fixed by any change of coordinate $\mathcal{U}(\rho)$. It follows that we can define a section $\mathbf{1} \in \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathscr{C})$ which under any trivialization $\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)$ is the constant section **1**, called the **vacuum section**.

4. Conformal blocks

Let \mathfrak{X} be a family of *N*-pointed compact Riemann surfaces as in (11). We choose \mathbb{V} -modules $\mathbb{W}_1, \dots, \mathbb{W}_N$. Set

$$\mathbb{W}_{\bullet} = \mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{W}_N.$$

 $w \in \mathbb{W}$. means a vector in \mathbb{W} , and $w \in \mathbb{W}$. means a vector of the form $w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N$ where each $w_i \in \mathbb{W}_i$.

The sheaf of conformal blocks is an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -submodule of an infinite-rank locally free $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module $\mathcal{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$, where the latter is defined as follows. For each open subset $V \subset \mathcal{B}$ such that the restricted family

$$\mathfrak{X}_V := (\pi : \mathcal{C}_V \to V; \varsigma_1|_V, \dots, \varsigma_N|_V)$$

(where $C_V = \pi^{-1}(V)$) admits local coordinates $\eta_1, ..., \eta_N$ at $\varsigma_1(V), ..., \varsigma_N(V)$ respectively, we have a trivialization (i.e., an isomorphism of \mathcal{O}_V -modules)

$$\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}) \equiv \mathcal{U}(\eta_{1}) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{U}(\eta_{N}) : \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})|_{V} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{V}$$

If *V* is small enough such that we have another set of local coordinates $\mu_1, ..., \mu_N$ at $\varsigma_1(V), ..., \varsigma_N(V)$ respectively, for each $1 \le j \le N$ we choose a family of transformations $(\eta_j | \mu_j) : V \to \mathbb{G}$ defined by

$$(\eta_j | \mu_j)_b \circ \mu_j |_{\mathcal{C}_b} = \eta_j |_{\mathcal{C}_b}$$
⁽²¹⁾

for each $b \in V$. Then each $\mathcal{U}(\eta_j | \mu_j)$ is a holomorphic family of invertible endomorphisms of \mathbb{W}_j associated to $(\eta_j | \mu_j)$ (as defined in Sec. 3). The tensor product of them, as a family of invertible transformations of \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} (more precisely, an automorphism of the \mathcal{O}_V -module $\mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_V$), is the transition function:

$$\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet})\mathcal{U}(\mu_{\bullet})^{-1} := \mathcal{U}(\eta_{1}|\mu_{1}) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{U}(\eta_{N}|\mu_{N}).$$
(22)

This gives the definition of $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$.

In particular, $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$ is a vector space equivalent to \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} through $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}|_{\mathcal{C}_b})$. It is easy to see that for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, the restriction $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})|_b$ (i.e., the fiber of the vector bundle at *b*) is naturally equivalent to $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$:

$$\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})|_{b} \simeq \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}_{b}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}).$$
 (23)

This equivalence is uniquely determined by the fact that if we identify the two spaces, then the restriction of $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet})$ to the map $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$ equals $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}|_{\mathcal{C}_b})$.

To define conformal blocks, we first consider the case that \mathcal{B} is a single point. Then $C := \mathcal{C}$ is a compact Riemann surface. We can define a linear action of $H^0(C, \mathscr{V}_C \otimes \omega_C(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$ as follows. Choose any local coordinate η_i of *C* at the point $x_j := \varsigma_j(\mathcal{B})$, defined on a neighboorhood W_j of x_j (so, in particular, $\eta_j(x_j) = 0$). Note $S_{\mathfrak{X}} = \{x_1, ..., x_N\}$. We assume

$$W_i \cap S_{\mathfrak{X}} = \{x_i\}.$$

Note that we have a trivialization

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta_j): \mathscr{V}_{\mathcal{C}}|_{W_i} \xrightarrow{-} \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{W_i} \simeq \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{\eta_i(W_i)}$$

which, tensored by $(\eta_j^{-1})^*$: $\omega_{W_j} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \omega_{\eta_j(W_j)}$, gives a trivialization

$$\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\eta_j): \mathscr{V}_{\mathcal{C}}|_{W_i} \otimes \omega_{W_i}(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \xrightarrow{-} \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{\eta_j(W_i)}(\star 0)$$

Then for each $v \in H^0(C, \mathscr{V}_C \otimes \omega_C(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$, we have a section $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{g}}(\eta_j)v$, which is a \mathbb{V} -valued (more precisely, $\mathbb{V}^{\leq n}$ -valued for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$) holomorphic 1-form on $\eta_j(W_j)$ but possibly has poles at $\eta_j(x_j) = 0$. By taking Laurent series expansions, $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{g}}(\eta_j)v$ can be regarded as an element of $\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{C}((z))dz$. We then define,

(notice that we have an isomorphism $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}) : \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$) an action of v on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$ by

$$\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}) \cdot v \cdot \mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet})^{-1} w_{\bullet} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}) \cdot v \cdot \mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet})^{-1} w_j \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N$$
(24a)

$$\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}) \cdot v \cdot \mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet})^{-1} w_{j} = \operatorname{Res}_{z=0} Y(\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\eta_{j})v, z) w_{j}$$
(24b)

for each $w_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$, where the residue is defined as in (16). That this definition is independent of the choice of local coordinates η_{\bullet} follows from [FB04, Thm. 6.5.4] (see also [Gui23, Thm. 3.2]), which relies on a crucial change of variable formula (cf. [Gui23, Thm. 3.3]) proved by Huang [Hua97].

Now that we have a linear action of $H^0(C, \mathscr{V}_C \otimes \omega_C(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$, we say that a linear functional $\phi : \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{C}$ is a **conformal block** (associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) exactly when ϕ vanishes on the vector space

$$\mathscr{J} := H^0(C, \mathscr{V}_C \otimes \omega_C(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}})) \cdot \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$$

where $\text{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}$ is suppressed on the right hand side of the equality.

Now we come back to the general setting that \mathfrak{X} is a family of *N*-pointed compact Riemann surfaces. Let $\phi : \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ be an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module morphism, which can be understood in the following way: If locally we identify $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})|_{V}$ (where *V* is an open subset of \mathcal{B}) with $\mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{V}$, then ϕ associates to each vector $w \in \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$ (considered as the constant section $w \otimes 1 \in \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes \mathscr{O}(V)$) a holomorphic function $\phi(w)$ on *U*.

Definition 4.1. Let ϕ : $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{B}}$ be an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{B}}$ -module morphism. For each $b \in \mathscr{B}$, regard $\phi|_{b}$ as the restriction of ϕ to the fiber map $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})|_{b} \simeq \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}_{b}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{C}$. Then, we say ϕ is a **conformal block** (over \mathscr{B} associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) if for each $b \in \mathscr{B}$, $\phi|_{b}$ is a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X}_{b} (i.e., $\phi(b)$ vanishes on $H^{0}(\mathscr{C}_{b}, \mathscr{V}_{\mathscr{C}_{b}} \otimes \omega_{\mathscr{C}_{b}}(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}}|_{b})) \cdot \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}_{b}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}))$.

The following proposition is [Gui23, Prop. 6.4].

Proposition 4.2. Let $\phi : \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ be an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module morphism. Suppose that each connected component of \mathcal{B} contains a non-empty open subset V such that the restriction of ϕ to $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}_{V}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathscr{O}_{V}$ is a conformal block, then the original ϕ is a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} .

5. Sewing conformal blocks

Let $N, M \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. Let

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}} = (\widetilde{\pi} : \widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}; \varsigma_1, \dots, \varsigma_N; \varsigma'_1, \dots, \varsigma'_M; \varsigma''_1, \dots, \varsigma''_M;)$$

be a family of (N + 2M)-pointed compact Riemann surfaces. Unless otherwise stated, we assume the following condition.

Assumption 5.1. We assume that for every $\tilde{b} \in \tilde{\mathcal{B}}$, each connected component of the fiber $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\tilde{b}}$ contains one of $\varsigma_1(\tilde{b}), \dots, \varsigma_N(\tilde{b})$.

For each $1 \leq j \leq M$, we assume $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ has local coordinates ξ_j at $\varsigma'_j(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ defined on a neighborhood $W'_j \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}$ of $\varsigma'_j(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ and similarly ϖ_j at $\varsigma''_j(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ defined on a neighborhood W''_j . We assume all W'_j, W''_j $(1 \leq j \leq M)$ are mutually disjoint and are also disjoint from $\varsigma_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \dots, \varsigma_N(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$, so that $\varsigma_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \dots, \varsigma_N(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ remain after sewing. We also assume that for each $1 \leq j \leq M$, we can choose $r_j, \rho_j > 0$ such that

$$(\xi_j, \widetilde{\pi}) : W'_j \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{D}_{r_j} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$$
 resp. $(\varpi_j, \widetilde{\pi}) : W''_j \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{D}_{\rho_j} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ (25)

is a biholomorphic map. (Recall that \mathcal{D}_r is the open disc at $0 \in \mathbb{C}$ with radius *r*.)

We do not assume $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ has local coordinates at $\varsigma_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), ..., \varsigma_N(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$.

Sewing families of compact Riemann surfaces. We can sew $\tilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ along all pairs $\varsigma'_i(\tilde{\mathcal{B}}), \varsigma''_i(\tilde{\mathcal{B}})$ to obtain a new family

$$\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}; \varsigma_1, \dots, \varsigma_N)$$
(26)

of compact Riemann surfaces. Here,

$$\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_{r.\rho.}^{\times} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, \qquad \mathcal{D}_{r.\rho.}^{\times} = \mathcal{D}_{r_1\rho_1}^{\times} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{D}_{r_M\rho_M}^{\times}$$

 \mathfrak{X} is described as follows.

For each $q_{\bullet} \in \mathcal{D}_{r,\rho_{\bullet}}^{\times}$ and $b \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$, the fiber $\mathcal{C}_{(q_{\bullet},b)}$ is obtained by removing the closed discs

$$F'_{j,b} = \{ y \in W'_j \cap \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_b : |\xi_j(y)| \le |q_j|/\rho_j \}$$

$$F''_{j,b} = \{ y \in W''_j \cap \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_b : |\varpi_j(y)| \le |q_j|/r_j \}$$

(for all *j*) from $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_b$, and gluing the remaining part of the Riemann surface $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_b$ by identifying (for all *j*) $y' \in W'_j \cap \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_b$ with $y'' \in W''_j \cap \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_b$ if $\xi_j(y') \varpi_j(y'') = q_j$. This procedure can be performed in a consistent way over all $b \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$, which gives $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}$. See for instance [Gui23, Sec. 4] for details.¹

Since $\Omega = \widetilde{C} \setminus \bigcup_{j} (W'_{j} \cup W''_{j})$ is not affected by gluing, $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho.}^{\times} \times \Omega$ can be viewed as a subset of \mathfrak{X} , and the restriction of π to this set is $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho.}^{\times} \times \Omega \xrightarrow{1 \otimes \widetilde{\pi}} \mathcal{D}_{r,\rho.}^{\times} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} = \mathcal{B}$. Thus, for each $1 \leq i \leq N$ the section ς_{i} for $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ defines the corresponding section $1 \times \varsigma_{i} : \mathcal{D}_{r,\rho.}^{\times} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{D}_{r,\rho.}^{\times} \times \Omega$, also denoted by ς_{i} . A local coordinate η_{i} of $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ at $\varsigma_{i}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ extends constantly over $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho.}^{\times}$ to a local coordinate of \mathfrak{X} at $\varsigma_{i}(\mathcal{B})$, also denoted by η_{i} .

Sewing conformal blocks. We now define sewing conformal blocks associated to $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$. Associate to $\varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_N \mathbb{V}$ -modules $\mathbb{W}_1, \ldots, \mathbb{W}_N$. Then we have $\mathscr{W}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$ defined by $(\widetilde{\pi} : \widetilde{C} \to \widetilde{B}; \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_N)$. For each connected open $\widetilde{V} \subset \widetilde{B}, \mathscr{W}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})(\widetilde{V})$ can be identified canonically with a subspace of $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})(\mathcal{D}_{r.\rho.}^{\times} \times \widetilde{V})$ consisting of sections of the latter which are constant with respect to sewing. More precisely, this identification is compatible with restrictions to open subsets of \widetilde{V} ; moreover, if \widetilde{V} is small enough such that $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}|_{\widetilde{V}}$ has local coordinates η_1, \ldots, η_N at $\varsigma_1(\widetilde{V}), \ldots, \varsigma_N(\widetilde{V})$ which give rise to η_1, \ldots, η_N of η_1, \ldots, η_N of $\mathfrak{X}|_{\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times}, \times \widetilde{V}}$ at $\varsigma_1(\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \widetilde{V})$, ..., $\varsigma_N(\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \widetilde{V})$ (which are constant over $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho.}^{\times}$), then the following diagram commutes:

where the bottom horizontal line is defined by pulling pack the projection $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \widetilde{V} \to \widetilde{V}$.

¹Indeed, one can extend \mathfrak{X} to a slightly larger flat family of complex curves (with at worst nodal singularities) with base manifold $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}$. $\times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ (cf. for instance [Gui23, Sec. 4]).

Associate to $\varsigma'_1, \ldots, \varsigma'_M \mathbb{V}$ -modules $\mathbb{M}_1, \ldots, \mathbb{M}_M$, whose contragredient modules $\mathbb{M}'_1, \ldots, \mathbb{M}'_M$ are associated to $\varsigma''_1, \ldots, \varsigma''_M$. We understand $\mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes \mathbb{M}_{\bullet} \otimes \mathbb{M}'_{\bullet}$ as

$$\mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{W}_N \otimes \mathbb{M}_1 \otimes \mathbb{M}'_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{M}_M \otimes \mathbb{M}'_M$$

where the order has be changed so that each \mathbb{M}'_{j} is next to \mathbb{M}_{j} . We can then identify

$$\mathscr{W}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}\otimes\mathbb{M}_{\bullet}\otimes\mathbb{M}_{\bullet}')=\mathscr{W}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{M}_{\bullet}\otimes\mathbb{M}_{\bullet}'$$
(28)

such that whenever $\widetilde{V} \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ is open such that $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}|_{\widetilde{V}}$ has local coordinates η_1, \ldots, η_N at $\varsigma_1(\widetilde{V}), \ldots, \varsigma_N(\widetilde{V})$ as before, the following diagram commutes:



We define

$$q_j^{\widetilde{L}_0} \blacktriangleright \otimes_j \blacktriangleleft = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} q_j^n \sum_{a \in \mathfrak{A}_{j,n}} m(n,a) \otimes \widecheck{m}(n,a) \qquad \in (\mathbb{M}_j \otimes \mathbb{M}'_j)[[q_j]]$$

where for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $s \in \mathbb{C}$, $\{m(n, a) : a \in \mathfrak{A}_{j,n}\}$ is a basis of $\mathbb{W}(n)$ with dual basis $\{\check{m}(n, a) : a \in \mathfrak{A}_{j,n}\}$ in $\mathbb{W}'(n)$.

Now, for any conformal block $\psi : \mathscr{W}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes \mathbb{M}_{\bullet} \otimes \mathbb{M}'_{\bullet}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}$ associated to the family $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $\mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes \mathbb{M}_{\bullet} \otimes \mathbb{M}'_{\bullet}$, we define an $\mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}$ -module morphism

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}\psi}$$
 : $\mathscr{W}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}[[q_1, \dots, q_M]]$

by sending each section w over an open $\widetilde{V} \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ to

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}\psi(w) = \psi\Big(w \otimes (q_1^{\widetilde{L}_0} \triangleright \otimes_1 \blacktriangleleft) \otimes \cdots \otimes (q_M^{\widetilde{L}_0} \triangleright \otimes_M \blacktriangleleft)\Big)$$

$$\in \mathscr{O}(\widetilde{V})[[q_1, \dots, q_M]].$$
(30)

The identification (28) is used in this definition. $\tilde{\delta}\psi$ is called the (normalized) **sewing of** ψ .

Definition 5.2. Let *X* be a complex manifold. Consider an element

$$f = \sum_{n_1, \dots, n_M \in \mathbb{C}} f_{n_1, \dots, n_M} q_1^{n_1} \cdots q_M^{n_M} \qquad \in \mathscr{O}(X)\{q_1, \dots, q_M\}$$

where each $f_{n_1,\ldots,n_M} \in \mathcal{O}(X)$. Let $R_1,\ldots,R_M \in [0,+\infty]$ and $\mathcal{D}_{R_{\bullet}}^{\times} = \mathcal{D}_{R_1}^{\times} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{D}_{R_M}^{\times}$. For any locally compact subset Ω of $\mathcal{D}_{R_{\bullet}}^{\times} \times X$, we say that formal series f

converges absolutely and locally uniformly (a.l.u.) on Ω , if for any compact subsets $K \subset \Omega$, we have

$$\sup_{(q_{\bullet},x)\in K} \sum_{n_1,\ldots,n_M\in\mathbb{C}} \left| f_{n_1,\ldots,n_M}(x) q_1^{n_1}\cdots q_M^{n_M} \right| < +\infty.$$

In the case that $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)[[q_1^{\pm 1}, \dots, q_M^{\pm 1}]]$, it is clear from complex analysis that f converges a.l.u. on $\mathcal{D}_{R}^{\times} \times X$ if and only if f is the Laurent series expansion of an element (also denoted by f) of $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{D}_R^{\times} \times X)$.

Definition 5.3. We say that $\widetilde{S}\psi$ converges a.l.u. (on $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$), if for any open subset $\widetilde{V} \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ and any section w of $\mathscr{W}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})(\widetilde{V})$, $\widetilde{S}\psi(w)$ converges a.l.u. on $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \widetilde{V}$.

Consider the following condition weaker than assumption 5.1:

Assumption 5.4. For every $b \in \mathcal{B}$, each connected component of the fiber \mathcal{C}_b contains one of $\varsigma_1(b), \dots, \varsigma_N(b)$.

Theorem 5.5 ([Gui23], Thm. 11.3). Assume Assumption 5.4 instead of Assumption 5.1. If $\widetilde{S}\psi$ converges a.l.u. on $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$, then $\widetilde{S}\psi$ (resp. $S\psi$), when extended $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -linearly to an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module homomorphism $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ using the inclusion $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \subset \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$ defined by (27), is a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} .

Example 5.6. Let $\mathfrak{Y} = (C; x_1, ..., x_N)$ be an *N*-pointed compact Riemann surface with local coordinates $\eta_1, ..., \eta_N$ at $x_1, ..., x_N$, defined on neighborhoods $W_1, ..., W_N$ satisfying $W_j \cap \{x_1, ..., x_N\} = x_j$ for each $1 \le j \le N$. Assume $\eta_1(W_1) = \mathcal{D}_r$ for some r > 0. Let ζ be the standard coordinate of \mathbb{C} . Let $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ be the disjoint union of \mathfrak{Y} and $(\mathbb{P}^1; 0, 1, \infty)$, namely, we have an (N + 3)-pointed compact Riemann surface

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{\mathfrak{X}}} = (C \sqcup \mathbb{P}^1; x_1, \dots, x_N, 0, 1, \infty).$$

We equip $\widetilde{\mathbf{x}}$ with local coordinates $\eta_1, ..., \eta_N, \zeta, (\zeta - 1), \zeta^{-1}$. The local coordinate ζ at 0 should be defined at |z| < 1 so that no marked points other than 0 is inside this region.

We sew $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ along $x_1 \in C$ and $\infty \in \mathbb{P}^1$ using the chosen local coordinates η_1 and $1/\zeta$ to obtain a family \mathfrak{X} . Then

$$\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : C \times \mathcal{D}_r^{\times} \to \mathcal{D}_r^{\times}; x_1, x_2, \dots, x_N, \varsigma)$$

where π is the projection onto the \mathcal{D}_r^{\times} -component, the sections x_1, \ldots, x_N are (rigorously speaking) sections sending q to $(x_1, q), \ldots, (x_N, q)$. The section ς is defined by $\varsigma(q) = (\eta_1^{-1}(q), q)$, where η_1^{-1} sends \mathcal{D}_r biholomorphically to W_1 . Moreover, the local coordinates of \mathfrak{X} defined naturally by those of $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ are described as follows: For each |q| < r, their restrictions to

$$\mathfrak{X}_q = (C; x_1, x_2, \dots, x_N, \eta_1^{-1}(q))$$
 (31)

are $q^{-1}\eta_1, \eta_2, ..., \eta_N, q^{-1}(\eta_1 - q)$.

Note that Assumption 5.4 is always satisfied, but Assumption 5.1 is not satisfied when N = 1.

Attach \mathbb{V} -modules $\mathbb{W}_1, ..., \mathbb{W}_N, \mathbb{W}_1, \mathbb{V}, \mathbb{W}'_1$ to $x_1, ..., x_N, 0, 1, \infty$ (the marked points of $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$), respectively. Fix the trivializations of \mathscr{W} -sheaves using the chosen local coordinates. Let $\phi : \mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{W}_N \to \mathbb{C}$ be a conformal block associated to $(C; x_1, ..., x_N)$ and $\mathbb{W}_1, ..., \mathbb{W}_N$. Let

$$\omega : \mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}'_1 \to \mathbb{C},$$
$$w \otimes u \otimes w' \mapsto \langle Y(u, 1)w, w' \rangle = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle Y(u)_n w, w' \rangle,$$

which is a conformal block associated to $(\mathbb{P}^1; 0, 1, \infty)$ and $\mathbb{W}_1, \mathbb{V}, \mathbb{W}'_1$. Then $\psi := \phi \otimes \omega$ is a conformal block for $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$. When u, w_1 are \widetilde{L}_0 -homogeneous (i.e. eigenvectors of \widetilde{L}_0) with eigenvalues (weights) $\widetilde{\mathrm{wt}}(u), \widetilde{\mathrm{wt}}(w_1) \in \mathbb{N}$ respectively, by (13), $Y(u)_n w_1$ is \widetilde{L}_0 -homogeneous with weight $\widetilde{\mathrm{wt}}(u) + \widetilde{\mathrm{wt}}(_1) - n - 1$. Then

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}\psi: \mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{W}_N \otimes \mathbb{V} \to \mathbb{C}[[q]],$$

with

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}\psi(w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N \otimes u) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{\widetilde{\operatorname{wt}}(u) + \widetilde{\operatorname{wt}}(w_1) - n - 1} \cdot \psi(Y(u)_n w_1 \otimes w_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N)$$
(32)

when u, w_1 are \tilde{L}_0 -homogeneous.

From [FB04, Sec. 10.1], this series converges a.l.u. on \mathcal{D}_r^{\times} (i.e. when 0 < |q| < r). (See the proof of Thm. 7.1 for the detailed explanation.) Then, by Theorem 5.5, for each 0 < |q| < r, (32) converges to a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X}_q and the local coordinates mentioned after (31). If we change the coordinates at x_1 and $\eta_1^{-1}(q)$ to η_1 and $\eta_1 - q$ respectively, then in the formula (32), u and w_1 should be multiplied both by $q^{-\tilde{L}_0}$. Under the trivialization given by the new coordinates, $\tilde{S}\psi(w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N \otimes u)$ equals

$$\psi(Y(u,q)w_1 \otimes w_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N) := \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{-n-1} \cdot \psi(Y(u)_n w_1 \otimes w_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N).$$
(33)

We conclude that (once the a.l.u. convergence is established) for all 0 < |q| < r, (33) is a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X}_q , local coordinates $\eta_1, \eta_2 \dots, \eta_N, \eta_1 - q$, and modules W_1, \dots, W_N, V .

6. An equivalence of sheaves

Recall $\mathfrak{X} = (\mathfrak{i}\pi : \mathfrak{i}\mathcal{C} \to \mathfrak{i}\mathcal{B}; \sigma, \mathfrak{i}\varsigma_1, \dots, \mathfrak{i}\varsigma_N)$ in (12). In particular, $\mathfrak{i}\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{B}}$ $(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}), \mathfrak{i}\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$. The goal of this section is to establish a canonical $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ -module isomorphism

$$\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{V}\otimes\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})\simeq\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C}}}\pi^{*}\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})|_{\mathscr{C}\backslash S_{\mathfrak{X}}},$$
(34)

which relates the sheaves of VOAs and the \mathcal{W} -sheaves.

The reason for establishing this equivalence is the following: We want to construct *n*-times propagation $\ell^n \phi$ of a conformal block ϕ associated to a fixed pointed compact Riemann surface \mathfrak{X}_0 by induction on n. $\ell^n \phi$ is the propagation of $\ell^{n-1} \phi$ where the latter is viewed as a conformal block associated to the family of compact Riemann surfaces (namely $\ell^{n-1}\mathfrak{X}_0$, using the notations in Sec. 2) describing the motion of n-1 distinct points on \mathfrak{X}_0 . To understand $\ell^{n-1} \phi$ as a conformal block, we need to describe the \mathcal{W} -sheaf on $\ell^{n-1}\mathfrak{X}_0$ using sheaves of VOAs. By setting $\ell^{n-2}\mathfrak{X}_0 = \mathfrak{X}$ and hence $\ell \mathfrak{X} = \ell^{n-1}\mathfrak{X}_0$, one needs to describe the \mathcal{W} -sheaf on $\ell \mathfrak{X}$. This is fulfilled by the isomorphism (34).

Let us begin the formal discussion. Note that $\pi^* \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$ is the pullback sheaf $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{C}}$. This is the sheaf for the presheaf associating to each open $U \subset \mathscr{C}$ the $\mathscr{O}(U)$ -module $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})(\pi(U)) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}(\pi(U))} \mathscr{O}(U)$. (Note that π is an open map.) Assume the restriction $\mathfrak{X}_{\pi(U)}$ has local coordinates η_1, \ldots, η_N at $\zeta_1(\pi(U)), \ldots, \zeta_N(\pi(U))$. We write

$$\pi^* w := w \otimes 1 \in \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \otimes_{\mathscr{B}} \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{C}} = \pi^* \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$$

for any section $w \in \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$. Sheafifying the tensor product $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}) \otimes 1$ on the presheaf provides an isomorphism of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ -modules

$$\pi^{*}\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}) \equiv \mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}) \otimes 1 : \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \Big|_{U} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\pi(U)}} \mathscr{O}_{U} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \left(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{\pi(U)}\right) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\pi(U)}} \mathscr{O}_{U}$$
(35)

or simply a trivialization (i.e. an \mathcal{O}_U -module isomorphism)

$$\pi^{*}\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}): \pi^{*}\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})\Big|_{U} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{U}.$$
(36)

Choose $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ injective on each fiber of *U*. Then we have a trivialization

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\mu) \otimes \pi^{*} \mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}) : \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \pi^{*} \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \Big|_{U} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{U}$$
(37)

Now assume $U \subset \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}} = \mathcal{B}$. Then we can equip the family \mathcal{X}_U with local coordinates as follows. For the local coordinate at each submanifold $\mathcal{E}_j(U)$ of $\mathcal{E}_U = \mathcal{E} \cap \partial \pi^{-1}(U)$, we choose $\partial \eta_j$ defined by

$$\partial \eta_i(x, y) = \eta_i(x) \tag{38}$$

whenever $(x, y) \in \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{B}} \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$ makes the above definable. The local coordinate at $\sigma(U)$ is $\Delta \mu$ given by

$$\Delta \mu(x, y) = \mu(x) - \mu(y) \tag{39}$$

when $(x, y) \in U \times_{\mathcal{B}} U$. (Recall that σ is the diagonal map.) We can then use $\Delta \mu, \partial \eta_{\bullet} = (\partial \eta_1, \dots, \partial \eta_N)$ to obtain a trivialization

$$\mathcal{U}(\triangle \mu, \eta_{\bullet}) : \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet})|_{U} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{U}$$
(40)

We shall relate the two trivializations. First, we need a lemma. Recall $U \subset C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$. Recall (17) and (21).

Lemma 6.1. If $\eta'_1, ..., \eta'_N$ are local coordinates of $\mathfrak{X}_{\pi(U)}$ at $\varsigma_1(\pi(U)), ..., \varsigma_N(\pi(U))$ respectively, and $\mu' \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ is injective on each fiber of U. Then, for each $x \in U$, we have

$$(\partial \eta_j | \partial \eta'_j)_x = (\eta_j | \eta'_j)_{\pi(x)}, \qquad (\bigtriangleup \mu | \bigtriangleup \mu')_x = \varrho(\mu | \mu')_x.$$

Note that $(\partial \eta_j | \partial \eta'_j)$ is a family of transformations over $U \subset \partial \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$, and the transformation over the point *x* is $(\partial \eta_j | \partial \eta'_j)_x$. $(\Delta \mu | \Delta \mu')_x$ is understood in a similar way.

Proof. We identify ∂C_x with $C_{\pi(x)}$ by identifying $(y, x) \in C \times_{\mathcal{B}} C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$ with $y \in C_{\pi(x)}$. Then, from the definition of $\partial \eta_j, \partial \eta'_j$, we clearly have $\partial \eta_j|_{\partial C_x} = \eta_j|_{C_{\pi(x)}}$ and $\partial \eta'_j|_{\partial C_x} = \eta'_j|_{C_{\pi(x)}}$. By (21), we have

$$\begin{split} &(\wr\eta_j|\wr\eta'_j)_x \circ \wr\eta'_j|_{\wr\mathcal{C}_x} = \wr\eta_j|_{\wr\mathcal{C}_x},\\ &(\eta_j|\eta'_j)_{\pi(x)} \circ\eta'_j|_{\mathcal{C}_{\pi(x)}} = \eta_j|_{\mathcal{C}_{\pi(x)}}. \end{split}$$

This proves $(\partial \eta_j | \partial \eta'_j)_x = (\eta_j | \eta'_j)_{\pi(x)}$.

Similarly,

$$(\bigtriangleup \mu | \bigtriangleup \mu')_x \circ \bigtriangleup \mu'|_{\mathcal{C}_x} = \bigtriangleup \mu|_{\mathcal{C}_x}.$$

By (39), we have $\Delta \mu|_{\partial \mathcal{C}_x} = (\mu - \mu(x))|_{\mathcal{C}_{\pi(x)}}$ and $\Delta \mu'|_{\partial \mathcal{C}_x} = (\mu' - \mu'(x))|_{\mathcal{C}_{\pi(x)}}$. These imply

$$(\bigtriangleup \mu | \bigtriangleup \mu')_x \circ (\mu' - \mu'(x))|_{\mathcal{C}_{\pi(x)}} = (\mu - \mu(x))|_{\mathcal{C}_{\pi(x)}}$$

Comparing this relation with (17) shows that $(\triangle \mu | \triangle \mu')_x = \varrho(\mu | \mu')_x$. \Box

Proposition 6.2. We have a unique isomorphism of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ -modules (i.e. a unique isomorphism of holomorphic vector bundles on $\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$)

$$\Psi_{\mathfrak{X}}: \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{V}\otimes\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C}}} \pi^* \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \Big|_{\mathcal{C}\setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$$
(41)

such that for any open $U \subset C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $\mu, \Delta \mu, \wr \eta$. as above, the restriction of this isomorphism to U makes the following diagram commutes.



Proof. One can define an isomorphism $\Psi_{\mathfrak{X}}$ such that the above diagram commutes. Such isomorphism is clearly unique. Thus, it remains to check that $\Psi_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is well-defined. We will do so by checking that the transition functions of the two sheaves agree.

Assume *U* is small enough such that we can have another set of μ', η' similar to μ, η_{\bullet} . Then by (22) and Lemma 6.1, for each $x \in U$, we have equalities

$$\mathcal{U}(\bigtriangleup\mu,\wr\eta_{\star})_{x} \cdot \mathcal{U}(\bigtriangleup\mu',\imath\eta'_{\star})_{x}^{-1}$$

$$=\mathcal{U}(\bigtriangleup\mu|\bigtriangleup\mu')_{x} \otimes \mathcal{U}(\imath\eta_{1}|\wr\eta'_{1})_{x} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{U}(\imath\eta_{N}|\wr\eta'_{N})_{x}$$

$$=\mathcal{U}(\varrho(\mu|\mu')_{x}) \otimes \mathcal{U}(\eta_{1}|\eta'_{1})_{\pi(x)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{U}(\eta_{N}|\eta'_{N})_{\pi(x)}$$
(43)

for transformations on $\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{U}|_{x} \simeq \mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$.

By (22) and (35), we have

$$\left(\pi^*\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\boldsymbol{\cdot}})\right)_x \cdot \left(\pi^*\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\boldsymbol{\cdot}}')\right)_x^{-1} = \mathcal{U}(\eta_1|\eta_1')_{\pi(x)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{U}(\eta_N|\eta_N')_{\pi(x)}$$
(44)

for automorphisms of $\mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{U}|_{x} \simeq \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$. Thus, by (22) and (19),

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\mu) \otimes \pi^{*} \mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}) \right)_{x} \cdot \left(\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\mu') \otimes \pi^{*} \mathcal{U}(\eta'_{\bullet}) \right)_{x}^{-1} \\ = \mathcal{U}(\varrho(\mu|\mu'))_{x} \otimes \mathcal{U}(\eta_{1}|\eta'_{1})_{\pi(x)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{U}(\eta_{N}|\eta'_{N})_{\pi(x)}, \end{aligned}$$

which equals (43).

7. Propagation of conformal blocks

The main result of this section, Thm. 7.1, says that any conformal block ϕ associated to a family of pointed compact Riemann surfaces \mathfrak{X} has a propagation $\partial \phi$, which is a conformal block associated to $\partial \mathfrak{X}$. Recall that, intuitively, $\partial \mathfrak{X}$ is the family describing the motion of a point on \mathfrak{X} not meeting the marked points of \mathfrak{X} . A crucial consequence of Thm. 7.1 (reflected by the fact that $\partial \phi$ is an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ -module) is that $\partial \phi$ is simultaneously holomorphic with respect to the parameter of the base manifold of \mathfrak{X} and the parameter describing the motion of a point on \mathfrak{X} . The strong residue theorem is crucial to the proof of this fact.

Let $\phi : \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ be a conformal block associated to $\mathbb{W}_{\bullet} = \mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{W}_N$ and a family $\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}; \varsigma_1, \dots, \varsigma_N)$ of *N*-pointed compact Riemann surfaces. Recall $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{B}} (\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}), \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$. The goal of this section is to prove the following theorem.

Theorem 7.1. There is a unique $\mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{C}\backslash S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ -module morphism $\flat \varphi : \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\mathfrak{I}}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{C}\backslash S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ satisfying the following property:

"Choose any open subset $V \subset \mathcal{B}$ such that the restricted family \mathfrak{X}_V has local coordinates η_1, \ldots, η_N at $\varsigma_1(V), \ldots, \varsigma_N(V)$. For each j, we choose a neighborhood $W_j \subset \mathcal{C}_V \text{ of } \varsigma_j(V)$ on which η_j is defined, such that W_j intersects only $\varsigma_j(V)$ among $\varsigma_1(V), \ldots, \varsigma_N(V)$. Identify

 $W_j = (\eta_j, \pi)(W_j)$ via (η_j, π)

so that W_i is a neighborhood of $\{0\} \times V$ in $\mathbb{C} \times V$. Let

$$U_i := W_i \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}} = W_i \setminus (\{0\} \times V)$$

which is inside $\mathbb{C}^{\times} \times V$. Let *z* be the standard coordinate of \mathbb{C} . Identify

$$\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})|_{V} = \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{V} \quad via \ \mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}).$$

Identify

$$\mathscr{W}_{\iota \mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet})\Big|_{U_{j}} = \mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{U_{j}} \quad via \ \mathcal{U}(\bigtriangleup \eta_{j}, \iota \eta_{\bullet})$$
(45)

(cf. (40)). For each $u \in \mathbb{V}$, $w \in \mathbb{W}$, consider each vector of \mathbb{W} as a constant section of $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(U_j)$ and $u \otimes w$ as a constant section of $\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(U_j)$. Then the following equation holds at the level of $\mathcal{O}(V)[[z^{\pm 1}]]$:

$$\phi(w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes Y(u, z)w_j \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N) = \wr \phi(u \otimes w_{\bullet})$$
(46)

where $Y(u, z)w := \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} Y(u)_n w \cdot z^{-n-1}$ is an element of $\mathbb{W}_j((z))$, and $\partial \phi(u \otimes w_{\cdot}) \in \mathcal{O}(U_j)$ is regarded as an element of $\mathcal{O}(V)[[z^{\pm 1}]]$ by taking Laurent series expansion."

Moreover, $\wr \phi$ *is a conformal block associated to* $\wr \mathfrak{X}$ *and* $\lor \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$.

Note that the left hand side of (46) is understood as

$$\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \phi(w_1\otimes\cdots\otimes Y(u)_n w_j\otimes\cdots\otimes w_N) z^{-n-1},$$

which is in $\mathcal{O}(U_i)((z))$.

Proof of the uniqueness of $\wr \phi$. It suffices to restrict to the propagation of each fiber \mathfrak{X}_b , i.e., restrict $\wr \phi$ to a morphism $\phi|_{\ell(\mathfrak{X}_b)} : \mathscr{W}_{\ell(\mathfrak{X}_b)}(\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C}_b \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}}$. (Note that $\wr(\mathfrak{X}_b)$ is $\mathcal{C}_b \times (\mathcal{C}_b \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}) \to \mathcal{C}_b \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}$ with marked points.) By (46), we know $\wr \phi|_{\ell(\mathfrak{X}_b)}$ is uniquely determined on $(W_1 \cup \cdots \cup W_N) \cap \mathcal{C}_b$. For two possible propagations $\wr_1 \phi, \wr_2 \phi$, let Ω be the set of all $x \in \mathcal{C}_b \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}$ on a neighborhood of which $\wr_1 \phi|_{\ell(\mathfrak{X}_b)}$ agrees with $\wr_2 \phi|_{\ell(\mathfrak{X}_b)}$. Then Ω is open and intersect any connected component of \mathcal{C}_b . By complex analysis, it is clear that if U is a connected open subset of $\mathcal{C}_b \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}$ intersecting Ω such that the restriction $\mathscr{W}_{\ell(\mathfrak{X}_b)}(\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet})|_U$ is equivalent to $\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_U$, then $U \subset \Omega$. So Ω is closed, and hence must be $\mathcal{C}_b \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}$. This proves the uniqueness. \Box

Proof that (46) **is independent of the choice of** η . Let us show that if (46) holds for all u, w. for a set of local coordinates η . defined on $W_1, ..., W_N$, then it holds for another set η' . Indeed, it suffices to check this fact when restricted to each fiber \mathfrak{X}_b . So we may assume that \mathfrak{X} is a single pointed Riemann surface $(C; x_1, ..., x_N)$. Then (46) is equivalent to that for each $\nu \in H^0(W_j, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_C(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$,

 $\phi(w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \nu \cdot w_j \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N) = \operatorname{Res}_{x_i} \wr \phi(\nu \otimes w_{\bullet})$

where $\nu \cdot w_j$ is defined as in (24b). Then, as explained after (24b), this expression is independent of the choice of local coordinates.

Proof of the existence of $\langle \Phi \rangle$. We are going to identify $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W})$ with $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \pi^* \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ as in Prop. 6.2, and construct an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C}_{S_{\mathfrak{X}}}}$ -module morphism $\langle \Phi : \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \pi^* \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ satisfying (46). By the uniqueness proved above, we can safely restrict the base manifold \mathcal{B} to V. So we assume in the

following that $\mathcal{B} = V$ and hence \mathfrak{X} has local coordinates η , at marked points. So we identify $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}(\mathbb{W}_{+})}$ with $\mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ through $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet})$, which yields

$$\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \pi^* \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) = \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$$

$$\tag{47}$$

For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we let

$$\mathscr{E} = (\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq k})^{\vee}$$

be the dual bundle of $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq k}$. Then the identifications $W_j = (\eta_j, \pi)(W_j)$ and

$$\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq k}|_{W_{j}} = \mathbb{V}^{\leq k} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{W_{j}} \quad \text{via } \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta_{j})$$
(48)

are compatible with the identifications in Sec. A if we set the E_i in that section to be $(\mathbb{V}^{\leq k})^{\vee}$. Choose any $w_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$. Let $s_j = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e_{j,n} \cdot z^n$ as in Sec. A where each $e_{j,n} \in (\mathbb{V}^{\leq k})^{\vee} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}(\mathscr{B})$ is defined by

$$u \in \mathbb{V}^{\leq k} \mapsto \phi(w_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes Y(u)_{-n-1} w_j \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N) \in \mathscr{O}(\mathscr{B}).$$

For each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, since $\phi|_b$ is a conformal block, it vanishes on $H^0(\mathcal{C}_b, \mathscr{V}_{\mathcal{C}_b}^{\leq k} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}_b}(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}_b})) \cdot w_{\bullet}$. This means that s_1, \ldots, s_N satisfy condition (c) of Theorem A.1. Hence, by that theorem, s_1, \ldots, s_N are series expansions of a unique element $s \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, (\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq k})^{\vee}(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$, which restricts to $s \in H^0(\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}, (\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq k})^{\vee})$ and hence defines an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ -module morphism $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq k}|_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} w_{\bullet} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$. These morphisms are compatible for different k, and is extended $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ -linearly to a morphism $\wr \phi : \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \pi^* \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})|_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ (recall (47)).

By Prop. 6.2, we can regard $\wr \phi$ as a morphism $\wr \phi : \mathscr{W}_{\wr \mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$. Note that the identifications (47) and (48) are compatible with (45), thanks to the commutative diagram (42). Thus, $\wr \phi$ satisfies (46) under the required identifications with respect to the local coordinates η_{\bullet} . By the previous step, $\wr \phi$ satisfies (46) for any other choice of local coordinates.

Proof that $\wr \phi$ **is a conformal block.** Since being a conformal block is a fiberwise condition, we may prove $\wr \phi$ is a conformal block by restricting it to each fiber \mathfrak{X}_b and its propagation $\wr (\mathfrak{X}_b)$. Therefore, we may assume that \mathcal{B} is a single point. So C := C is a compact Riemann surface. We trim each W_j so that $\eta_j(W_j) = \mathcal{D}_{r_j}$ for some $r_j > 0$.

From the previous proof, we have a morphism $\wr \varphi : \mathscr{W}_{\wr \mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathscr{O}_{C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ which, given the trivializations in the statement of Theorem 7.1, is equal to (46) when restricted to $W_j \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}} = W_j \setminus \{\varsigma_j\}$. This shows that the series (46) converges a.l.u. on $0 < |z| < r_j$. Therefore, as explained in Example 5.6, we can use Thm. 5.5 to conclude that $\wr \varphi$ is a conformal block when restricted to each W_j . By Prop. 4.2, $\wr \varphi$ is globally a conformal block.

The proof of Thm. 7.1 is completed.

We now give an application of this theorem. Suppose \mathbb{E} is a set of vectors in a \mathbb{V} -module \mathbb{W} . We say \mathbb{E} **generates** \mathbb{W} if \mathbb{W} is spanned by vectors of the form $Y(u_1)_{n_1} \cdots Y(u_k)_{n_k} w$ where $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+, u_1, \dots, u_k \in \mathbb{V}, n_1, \dots, n_k \in \mathbb{Z}, w \in \mathbb{E}$.

Proposition 7.2. Let $\mathfrak{X} = (C; x_1, ..., x_N)$ be an N-pointed connected compact Riemann surface, where $N \ge 2$. Choose local coordinate η_j at x_j . Associate \mathbb{V} modules $\mathbb{W}_1, ..., \mathbb{W}_N$ to $x_1, ..., x_N$. Identify $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) = \mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{W}_N$ via $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet})$. Suppose that for each $2 \le i \le N$, \mathbb{E}_i is a generating subset of \mathbb{W}_i . Then any conformal block $\phi : \mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \mathbb{W}_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{W}_N \to \mathbb{C}$ is determined by its values on $\mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \mathbb{E}_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{E}_N$.

Proof. Assume ϕ vanishes on $\mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \mathbb{E}_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{E}_N$. We shall show that ϕ vanishes on $\mathbb{W}_1 \otimes Y(u)_n \mathbb{E}_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{E}_N$ for each $u \in \mathbb{V}$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then, by successively applying this result, we see that ϕ vanishes on $\mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \mathbb{W}_2 \otimes \mathbb{E}_3 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{E}_N$, and hence (by repeating again this procedure several times) vanishes on $\mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \mathbb{W}_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{W}_N$.

Identify $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) = \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}|_{C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$ using (41). Then we can consider \mathfrak{V}_{Φ} as a morphism $\mathfrak{V}_{\Phi} : \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}|_{C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \to \mathscr{O}_{C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}}$. Let Ω be the open set of all $x \in C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$ such that x has a neighborhood $U \subset C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$ such that the restriction

$$\mathbb{E} \phi|_U : \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}|_U \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{W}_1 \otimes \mathbb{E}_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{E}_N \to \mathscr{O}_U$$

vanishes. We note that if U is connected, and if we can find an injective $\eta \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ (so that $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}|_U$ is trivialized to $\mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_U$), then by complex analysis, $\wr \varphi|_U$ vanishes whenever $\wr \varphi|_V$ vanishes for some non-empty open $V \subset U$. We conclude that if such U intersects Ω , then U must be inside Ω . So Ω is closed. It is clear that for each $w_1 \in \mathbb{W}_1, w_2 \in \mathbb{E}_2, ..., w_N \in \mathbb{E}_N$, the following formal series of z

$$\phi(Y(u,z)w_1 \otimes w_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N)$$

vanishes. Thus, by Thm. 7.1, Ω contains $W_0 \setminus \{x_0\}$ for some neighborhood W_0 of x_0 . Therefore $\Omega = C \setminus S_x$. By Thm. 7.1 again, we see

$$\phi(w_1 \otimes Y(u, z) w_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N)$$

also vanishes. This finishes the proof.

Remark 7.3. Since **1** generates \mathbb{V} , we see that if \mathbb{V} , \mathbb{W}_2 , ..., \mathbb{W}_N (where $N \ge 2$) are associated to a connected $\mathfrak{X} = (C; x_1, ..., x_N)$, then any conformal block $\phi : \mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{W}_N \to \mathbb{C}$ is determined by its values on $\mathbf{1} \otimes \mathbb{W}_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{W}_N$. This proves the following two well-known results. In fact, in the literature, the propagation of conformal blocks is best known in the form of the following two corollaries.

Corollary 7.4. Let $\mathfrak{X} = (C; x_1, ..., x_N)$ be an N-pointed compact Riemann surface associated with \mathbb{V} -module $\mathbb{W}_1, ..., \mathbb{W}_N$. Identify $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) = \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}\Big|_{\mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$ via (41). Then for each $x \in \mathcal{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}, \mathfrak{d}_x$ is the unique linear map $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}\Big|_{\mathfrak{C}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{C}$ which is a conformal block and satisfies

$$\partial \phi|_{x}(\mathbf{1} \otimes w) = \phi(w)$$

for each vector $w \in \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$.

Proof. The uniqueness follows from the previous remark. We shall show that $\wr \phi(\mathbf{1} \otimes w)$, which is an element of $\mathcal{O}(C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}})$, equals the constant function $\phi(w)$. By complex analysis, it suffices to prove $\wr \phi(\mathbf{1} \otimes w) = \phi(w)$ when restricted to each $W_j \setminus \{x_j\}$ (where W_j is a small disc containing x_j on which a local coordinate is defined). This is true by (46).

Corollary 7.5. Let $\mathfrak{X} = (C; x_1, ..., x_N)$ be an N-pointed connected compact Riemann surface associated with \mathbb{V} -module $\mathbb{W}_1, ..., \mathbb{W}_N$. Choose $x \in C \setminus \{x_1, ..., x_N\}$. Then the space of conformal blocks associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{W} . is isomorphic to the space of conformal blocks associated to $(\mathfrak{X})_x = (C; x, x_1, ..., x_N)$ and to the modules $\mathbb{V}, \mathbb{W}_1, ..., \mathbb{W}_N$.

Proof. We assume the identifications in Cor. 7.4. The linear map *F* from the first space to the second one is defined by $\phi \mapsto \partial \phi|_x$. The linear map *G* from the second one to the first one is defined by $\psi \mapsto \psi(\mathbf{1} \otimes \cdot)$. By Cor. 7.4, we have $G \circ F = 1$. By Remark 7.3, *G* is injective. So *G* is bijective.

8. Multi-propagation

Let $\mathfrak{X} = (C; x_1, ..., x_N)$ be an *N*-pointed compact Riemann surface. Recall $S_{\mathfrak{X}} = \{x_1, ..., x_N\}$. We choose local coordinates $\eta_1 \in \mathcal{O}(W_1), ..., \eta_N \in \mathcal{O}(W_N)$ of \mathfrak{X} at $x_1, ..., x_N$, where each W_j is a neighborhood of x_j satisfying $W_j \cap S_{\mathfrak{X}} = \{x_j\}$. Let $n \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. By Section 2, $\ell^n \mathfrak{X}$ is

 $\ell^n \mathfrak{X} = (\ell^n \pi : C \times \operatorname{Conf}^n(C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to \operatorname{Conf}^n(C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}); \sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_n, \ell^n x_1, \dots, \ell^n x_N)$

where $\wr^n \pi$ is the projection onto the second component, and the sections are given by

$$\begin{aligned} &\lambda^n x_j(y_1, \dots, y_n) = (x_j, y_1, \dots, y_n), \\ &\sigma_i(y_1, \dots, y_n) = (y_i, y_1, \dots, y_n). \end{aligned}$$

We define local coordinate

$$\lambda^n \eta_j(x, y_1, \dots, y_n) = \eta_j(x) \tag{49}$$

of $\wr^n \mathfrak{X}$ at $x_j \times \operatorname{Conf}^n(C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}})$, defined on $W_j \times \operatorname{Conf}^n(C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}})$. Suppose U is an open subset of $C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$ which admits an injective $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(U)$. Then a local coordinate $\Delta_i \mu$ of $(\wr^n \mathfrak{X})_U$ at $\sigma_i(U)$ is defined by

$$\Delta_i \mu(x, y_1, \dots, y_n) = \mu(x) - \mu(y_i) \tag{50}$$

whenever this expression is definable.

We shall relate the \mathcal{W} -sheaves with the exterior product $\mathscr{V}_{C}^{\boxtimes n}$, which is an $\mathscr{O}_{C^{n}}$ -module defined by

$$\mathscr{V}_{C}^{\boxtimes n} := \mathrm{pr}_{1}^{*}\mathscr{V}_{C} \otimes \mathrm{pr}_{2}^{*}\mathscr{V}_{C} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathrm{pr}_{n}^{*}\mathscr{V}_{C}.$$
(51)

Here, each $pr_i : C^n = \underbrace{C \times \cdots \times C}_{n} \to C$ is the projection onto the *i*-th compo-

nent. The tensor products are over \mathscr{O}_{C^n} as usual. Similar to the description in Section 6, the \mathscr{O}_{C^n} -module $\operatorname{pr}_i^* \mathscr{V}_C$ is the pullback of the (infinite-rank) vector

bundle \mathscr{V}_C along pr_i to \mathbb{C}^n , i.e., $\mathscr{V}_C \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_C} \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ where the action of $f \in \mathscr{O}_C$ on $\mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ is defined by the multiplication of $f \circ \operatorname{pr}_i$. If $U \subset C$ is open and $\mu \in \mathscr{O}(U)$ is injective, we then have a trivilization

$$\mathrm{pr}_{i}^{*}\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\mu): \mathrm{pr}_{i}^{*}\mathscr{V}_{\mathcal{C}}\Big|_{\mathrm{pr}_{i}^{-1}(U)} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{\mathrm{pr}_{i}^{-1}(U)}.$$

Proposition 8.1. We have a unique isomorphism

$$\mathscr{W}_{\mathcal{Y}^{n}\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{V}^{\otimes n}\otimes\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})\xrightarrow{\simeq}\mathscr{V}_{C}^{\boxtimes n}\Big|_{\operatorname{Conf}^{n}(C\setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}})}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$$
(52)

such that for any n mutually disjoint open subsets $U_1, ..., U_n \subset C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and any injective $\mu_1 \in \mathscr{O}(U_1), ..., \mu_n \in \mathscr{O}(U_n)$, the restriction of this isomorphism to U makes the following diagram commutes.



Here,

$$(\triangle_{\bullet}\mu_{\bullet},\wr^n\eta_{\bullet}) := (\triangle_1\mu_1,\ldots,\triangle_n\mu_n,\wr^n\eta_1,\ldots,\wr^n\eta_n).$$

Moreover, the isomorphism is independent of the choice of η_{\bullet} .

Proof. Suppose we have another injective $\mu'_i \in \mathcal{O}(U_i)$. Similar to the proof of Lemma 6.1, we see that for each $y_i \in U_i$,

$$(\bigtriangleup_i \mu_i | \bigtriangleup_i \mu'_i)_{(y_1, \dots, y_n)} = \varphi(\mu_i | \mu'_i)_{y_i}$$

(See (17) and (21) for the meaning of notations.) Using this relation, one shows, as in the proof of Prop. 6.2, that the transition functions for the two trivializations in (53) are equal. This finishes the proof. \Box

Choose a conformal block $\phi : \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \to \mathbb{C}$ associated to \mathfrak{X} and $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$. By Theorem 7.1, we have *n*-propagation $\wr^{n} \phi$ defined inductively by

$$\partial^n \phi = \partial(\partial^{n-1} \phi)$$

which is a conformal block associated to $\ell^n \mathfrak{X}$ and $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes n} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$. By Prop. 8.1, we can regard $\ell^n \phi$ as a morphism

$$\mathcal{V}^{n} \phi : \mathcal{V}^{\boxtimes n}_{C} \Big|_{\operatorname{Conf}^{n}(C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}})} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\operatorname{Conf}^{n}(C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}})}$$

Important facts about $\wr^n \phi$. Choose open $U_1, ..., U_n \subset C$ (not necessarily disjoint) and write

$$\operatorname{Conf}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}) = (U_1 \times \cdots \times U_n) \cap \operatorname{Conf}^n(C \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}).$$

For any sections $v_i \in \mathscr{V}_C(U_i)$ and any $w \in \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet})$, we write

$$\lambda^{n} \phi(v_{1}, \dots, v_{n}, w) := \lambda^{n} \phi\left(\mathrm{pr}_{1}^{*} v_{1} \otimes \dots \otimes \mathrm{pr}_{n}^{*} v_{n} \otimes w\Big|_{\mathrm{Conf}(U, \backslash S_{\mathfrak{X}})}\right)$$
$$\in \mathscr{O}\left(\mathrm{Conf}(U, \backslash S_{\mathfrak{X}})\right). \tag{54}$$

We now summarize some important properties of $\partial^n \phi$ in this setting.

As an elementary fact, the map $(v_1, ..., v_n) \mapsto \ell^n \phi(v_1, ..., v_n, w)$ intertwines the action of each $\mathcal{O}(U_i)$ on the *i*-th component. (Here, each $f \in \mathcal{O}(U_i)$ acts on $\mathcal{O}(\text{Conf}(U_{\cdot} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ by the multiplication of $(f \circ \text{pr}_i)|_{\text{Conf}(U_{\cdot} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}})}$). Moreover, it is compatible with restricting to open subsets of U_i .

We set $\partial^0 \phi = \phi$.

Theorem 8.2. Identify

$$\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) = \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$$
 via $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet})$.

Choose any $w_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$. For each $1 \leq i \leq n$, choose an open subset U_i of C equipped with an injective $\mu_i \in \mathcal{O}(U_i)$. Identify

$$\mathscr{V}_{C}\Big|_{U_{i}} = \mathbb{V} \bigotimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{U_{i}} \qquad via \ \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\mu_{i}).$$

Choose $v_i \in \mathscr{V}_C(U_i) = \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}(U_i)$. Choose $(y_1, \dots, y_n) \in \text{Conf}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}})$. Then the following are true.

(1) If $U_1 = W_j$ (where $1 \le j \le N$) and contains only y_1, x_j among all x_i, y_i , if $\mu_1 = \eta_j$, and if U_1 contains the closed disc with center x_j and radius $|\eta_j(y_1)|$ (under the coordinate η_j), then

$$\chi^{n} \phi(v_{1}, v_{2}, \dots, v_{n}, w_{\bullet}) \Big|_{y_{1}, y_{2}, \dots, y_{n}}$$

= $\chi^{n-1} \phi(v_{2}, \dots, v_{n}, w_{1} \otimes \dots \otimes Y(v_{1}, z) w_{j} \otimes \dots \otimes w_{N}) \Big|_{y_{2}, \dots, y_{n}} \Big|_{z=\eta_{j}(y_{1})}$ (55)

where the series of z on the right hand side converges absolutely, and v_1 is considered as an element of $\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{C}((z))$ by taking Taylor series expansion with respect to the variable η_j at x_j .

(2) If U₁ = U₂ and contains only y₁, y₂ among all x., y., if μ₁ = μ₂, and if U₂ contains the closed disc with center y₂ and radius |μ₂(y₁) - μ₂(y₂)| (under the coordinate μ₂), then

$$\chi^{n} \phi(v_{1}, v_{2}, v_{3}, \dots, v_{n}, w_{\bullet}) \Big|_{y_{1}, y_{2}, \dots, y_{n}}$$

= $\chi^{n-1} \phi(Y(v_{1}, z)v_{2}, v_{3}, \dots, v_{n}, w_{\bullet}) \Big|_{y_{2}, \dots, y_{n}} \Big|_{z=\mu_{2}(y_{1})-\mu_{2}(y_{2})}$ (56)

where the series of z on the right hand side converges absolutely, and v_1 is considered as an element of $\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{C}((z))$ by taking Taylor series expansion with respect to the variable $\mu_2 - \mu_2(y_2)$ at y_2 .

(3) We have

$$\ell^{n}\phi(\mathbf{1}, v_{2}, v_{3}, \dots, v_{n}, w_{\bullet}) = \ell^{n-1}\phi(v_{2}, \dots, v_{n}, w_{\bullet}).$$
(57)

(4) For any permutation π of the set $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$, we have

$$\left. \left. \left. \left. v_{\pi(1)}, \dots, v_{\pi(n)}, w_{\bullet} \right) \right|_{y_{\pi(1)}, \dots, y_{\pi(n)}} = \left. \left. v_{\pi(0)} \phi(v_1, \dots, v_n, w_{\bullet}) \right|_{y_1, \dots, y_n} \right.$$
(58)

Proof. When v_1, v_2 are constant sections (i.e. in \mathbb{V}), (1) and (2) follow from Thm. 7.1 and especially formula (46). The general case follows immediately. (3) follows from Cor. 7.4. By (3), part (4) holds when v_1, \dots, v_n are all the vacuum section **1**. Thus, it hols for all v_1, \dots, v_n due to Prop. 7.2.

9. Sewing and multi-propagation

We assume, in addition to the setting of Section 5, that \mathcal{B} is a single point. Namely, we have an (N + 2M)-pointed compact Riemann surface

$$\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{X}}} = (\widetilde{C}; x_1, \dots, x_N; x_1', \dots, x_M'; x_1'', \dots, x_M''),$$

where each connected component of \widetilde{C} contains one of $x_1, ..., x_N$. For each $1 \leq j \leq M$, $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ has local coordinates ξ_j at x'_j and ϖ_j at x''_j defined respectively on neighborhoods $W'_j \ni x'_j, W''_j \ni x''_j$. All W'_j, W''_j (where $1 \leq j \leq M$) are mutually disjoint and do not contain $x_1, ..., x_N$. $\xi_j(W'_j) = \mathcal{D}_{r_j}$, and $\varpi_j(W''_j) = \mathcal{D}_{\rho_j}$. For each marked point x_i we associate a \mathbb{V} -module \mathbb{W}_i . To x'_j and x''_j to we associate respectively a \mathbb{V} -module \mathbb{M}_j and its contragredient \mathbb{M}'_i . We set

$$S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}} = \{x_1, \dots, x_N\}$$

Also, for each $1 \le i \le N$, choose a local coordinate η_i at x_i . Identify

$$\mathscr{W}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}\otimes\mathbb{M}_{\bullet}\otimes\mathbb{M}_{\bullet}')=\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}\otimes\mathbb{M}_{\bullet}\otimes\mathbb{M}_{\bullet}'$$
 via $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet},\xi_{\bullet},\varpi_{\bullet}).$

We sew $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ along each x'_i, x''_i to obtain a family

$$\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times}; x_1, \dots, x_N),$$

where the points $x_1, ..., x_N$ on \widetilde{C} and the local coordinates $\eta_1, ..., \eta_N$ at these points extend constantly (over $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times}$) to sections and local coordinates of \mathfrak{X} , denoted by the same symbols. (Cf. Sec. 5.) For each $q_{\bullet} \in \mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times}$, we identify

$$\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}_{a}}(\mathbb{W}_{\bullet}) = \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$$
 via $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet})$.

Let $\phi : \mathbb{W}_{\bullet} \otimes \mathbb{M}_{\bullet} \otimes \mathbb{M}'_{\bullet} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a conformal block associated to $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ that converges a.l.u. on $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times}$. Let $U_1, \ldots, U_n \subset \widetilde{C}$ be open and disjoint from each W'_j, W''_j . For each $q_{\bullet} \in \mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times}$, since the fiber $\mathcal{C}_{q_{\bullet}}$ is obtained by removing a small part of each $W'_j, W''_j \subset \widetilde{C}$ and gluing the remaining part of \widetilde{C} , we see that each U_i can be regarded as an open subset of the fiber $\mathcal{C}_{q_{\bullet}}$. By Thm. 5.5,

$$\mathcal{S}_{q} \phi := \mathcal{S} \phi|_{q}$$

is a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X}_{q} . Thus, we can consider its *n*-propagation $\iota^n \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{q} \phi$. In the setting of Thm. 8.2, and setting

$$\operatorname{Conf}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}) = (U_1 \times \cdots \times U_n) \cap \operatorname{Conf}^n(\widetilde{C} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}),$$

for each $v_i \in \mathscr{V}_{\widetilde{C}}(U_i) = \mathscr{V}_{\mathcal{C}_{q_{\bullet}}}(U_i)$ and $w_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$,

$$\partial^n \widetilde{S}_{q_{\bullet}} \phi(v_1, \dots, v_n, w_{\bullet}) \qquad \in \mathscr{O}(\operatorname{Conf}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}})).$$

This expression relies holomorphically on q_{\bullet} due to Thm. 7.1 (applied *n* times). Thus, by varying q_{\bullet} , we obtain

$$\ell^{n} \widetilde{S} \phi(v_{1}, \dots, v_{n}, w_{\bullet}) \qquad \in \mathscr{O} \big(\mathscr{D}_{r, \rho}^{\mathsf{X}} \times \operatorname{Conf}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}) \big). \tag{59}$$

Since $\ell^n \phi$ is a conformal block associated to $\ell^n \widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$, we can talk about the a.l.u. convergence of its sewing $\widetilde{\mathfrak{S}} \ell^n \phi$, which is a conformal block by Thm. 5.5 again. In the setting of Thm. 8.2, this means for each $v_i \in \mathscr{V}_{\widetilde{C}}(U_i)$ and $w_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$ the a.l.u. convergence of

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{n} \phi(v_{1}, \dots, v_{n}, w_{\bullet}) := \iota^{n} \phi\left(v_{1}, \dots, v_{n}, w_{\bullet} \otimes (q_{1}^{L_{0}} \triangleright \otimes_{1} \blacktriangleleft) \otimes \dots \otimes (q_{M}^{L_{0}} \triangleright \otimes_{M} \blacktriangleleft)\right)$$
$$\in \mathscr{O}(\operatorname{Conf}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}))[[q_{1}, \dots, q_{M}]] \tag{60}$$

on $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \operatorname{Conf}(U \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}})$ in the sense of Def. 5.2. We may ask whether this convergence is true, and if it is true, whether the value of this expression at q. equals (59). The answer is Yes.

Theorem 9.1. If $\widetilde{S}\phi$ converges a.l.u. on $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho,}^{\times}$, then for each open $U_1, \ldots, U_n \subset \widetilde{C}$ disjoint from W'_i, W''_i $(1 \leq j \leq N)$, each $v_i \in \mathscr{V}_{\widetilde{C}}(U_i)$ and $w_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$, the relation

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}\iota^n \phi(v_1, \dots, v_n, w_{\bullet}) = \iota^n \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}\phi(v_1, \dots, v_n, w_{\bullet})$$
(61)

holds at the level of $\in \mathscr{O}(\operatorname{Conf}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}))[[q_1^{\pm 1}, ..., q_M^{\pm 1}]]$. In particular, the left hand side converges a.l.u. on $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \operatorname{Conf}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}})$.

We note that the right hand side of (61) is considered as a series of $q_1, ..., q_M$ by taking Laurent series expansion.

Proof. We prove this theorem by induction on *n*. Let us assume the case for n-1 is proved. For each $1 \le i \le N$ we choose a neighborhood $W_i \subset \widetilde{C}$ of x_i on which η_i is defined. We assume W_i is small enough such that it does not intersect any W'_i, W''_i $(1 \le j \le N)$ and contains only x_1 of $x_1, ..., x_N$.

Step 1. Note that we can clearly shrink $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times}$ since the formal series in (61) are independent of the size of this punctured polydisc. Therefore, we can also shrink each W'_j, W''_j to smaller discs, so that the interior of $\widetilde{C} \setminus \bigcup_{1 \le j \le M} (W'_j \cup W''_j)$ (denoted by **H**) is homotopic to $\mathbf{H}_0 = \widetilde{C} \setminus \{x'_1, \dots, x'_M, x''_1, \dots, x''_M\}$. Therefore, since each connected component of \widetilde{C} (and hence each one of \mathbf{H}_0) intersects x_1, \dots, x_N , each one of \mathbf{H}_0 contains at least one of W_1, \dots, W_N . The same is true for **H**. So each connected component of $\mathbf{H} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}$ contains at lease one $W_j \setminus \{x_j\}$.

Fix $U_2, ..., U_n$ and $v_2, ..., v_n, w$. as in the statement of this theorem. Let Ω be the open set of all $y_1 \in \mathbf{H} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}$ contained in an open $U_1 \subset \mathbf{H} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}$ such that (61) holds for all $v_1 \in \mathscr{V}_{\widetilde{C}}(U_1)$. By complex analysis, if $V_1 \subset \mathbf{H} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}$ is open such that $\mathscr{V}_{\widetilde{C}}|_{V_1}$ is trivializable (e.g., when there is an injective element of $\mathscr{O}(V_1)$), then $V_1 \subset \Omega$ whenever $V_1 \cap \Omega \neq \emptyset$. So Ω is closed. Thus, if Ω intersects $W_1 \setminus \{x_1\}, ..., W_N \setminus \{x_N\}$, then $\Omega = \mathbf{H} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}$, which finishes the proof.

Step 2. We show Ω intersects $W_1 \setminus \{x_1\}$, and hence intersects the other $W_i \setminus \{x_i\}$ by a similar argument. Indeed, we shall show that (61) holds whenever $U_1 = W_1$.

Note $w_{\bullet} = w_1 \otimes w_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N$ by convention. We let $w_{\circ} = w_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes w_N$. Identify W_1 with $\eta_1(W_1)$ via η_1 so that η_1 is identified with the standard coordinate *z*. Let $\operatorname{Conf}(U_{\circ} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}) = (U_2 \times \cdots \times U_n) \cap \operatorname{Conf}^{n-1}(\widetilde{C} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}})$. Identify $\mathscr{V}_{\widetilde{C}}|_{W_1}$ with $\mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{W_1}$ using $\mathscr{U}_{\varrho}(\eta_1)$. Choose any $v_1 \in \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}(W_1)$. Then by Thm. 8.2,

$$\widetilde{S}\wr^n \phi(v_1, v_2, \dots, v_n, w_{\bullet}) = \widetilde{S}\wr^{n-1} \phi(v_2, \dots, v_n, Y(v_1, z)w_1 \otimes w_{\circ})$$

at the level of $\mathscr{O}(\operatorname{Conf}(U_{\circ} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}))[[z^{\pm 1}, q_{1}^{\pm 1}, \dots, q_{M}^{\pm 1}]]$. By our assumption on the (n-1)-case, this expression can be regarded as an element of (and hence this equation holds at the level of) $\mathscr{O}(\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \operatorname{Conf}(U_{\circ} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}))[[z^{\pm 1}]]$, and we have

 $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}\wr^{n} \phi(v_{1}, v_{2}, \dots, v_{n}, w_{\bullet}) = \wr^{n-1} \widetilde{\mathcal{S}} \phi(v_{2}, \dots, v_{n}, Y(v_{1}, z)w_{1} \otimes w_{\circ})$

also on this level. By Thm. 8.2 again, this expression equals

$$\partial^n S \phi(v_1, v_2, \dots, v_n, w_1 \otimes w_\circ)$$

on this level. Since the above is an element of $\mathscr{O}(\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \operatorname{Conf}(U \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}))$, by the uniqueness of Laurent series expansion, we see the left hand side of (61) is also an element of this ring, and (61) holds on this level.

Remark 9.2. We discuss how to generalize Thm. 9.1 to the case that $\widehat{\mathbf{x}}$ is a family of compact Riemann surfaces as in Sec. 5. We assume the setting of that section, together with one more assumption that $\widetilde{\mathbf{x}}$ has local coordinates η_1, \ldots, η_N at $\varsigma_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \ldots, \varsigma_N(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ so that we can identify the \mathcal{W} -sheaves with the free ones using the trivialization $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\cdot})$ or $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\cdot}, \xi_{\cdot}, \varpi_{\cdot})$.

We use freely the notations in Sec. 5. Let $S_{\tilde{\mathfrak{X}}} = \bigcup_{1 \le i \le M} \varsigma_i(\tilde{\mathcal{B}})$. Let

 $\varphi: \mathbb{W}_{\scriptscriptstyle\bullet} \otimes \mathbb{M}_{\scriptscriptstyle\bullet} \otimes \mathbb{M}'_{\scriptscriptstyle\bullet} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}} \to \mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}$

be a conformal block associated to $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ converging a.l.u. on $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$. Choose any open $U_1, \ldots, U_n \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}$ disjoint from all W'_j, W''_j . Choose $v_i \in \mathscr{V}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(U_i)$ and $w_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{W}_{\bullet}$. Let $\operatorname{Conf}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}})$ be the set of all $(y_1, \ldots, y_n) \in \operatorname{Conf}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}})$ satisfying $\widetilde{\pi}(y_1) = \cdots = \widetilde{\pi}(y_n)$. For each $m_j \in M_j, m'_i \in M'_i$, we have

$$\partial^n \phi(v_1, \dots, v_n, w_{\boldsymbol{\cdot}} \otimes m_{\boldsymbol{\cdot}} \otimes m'_{\boldsymbol{\cdot}}) \in \mathscr{O}(\operatorname{Conf}_{\widetilde{\mathscr{B}}}(U_{\boldsymbol{\cdot}} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}))$$

whose restriction to each $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{b}^{\times n}$ (where $b \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ is such that $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{b}$ intersects $U_{1}, ..., U_{n}$) is $\partial^{n}(\phi|_{b})(v_{1}, ..., v_{n}, w_{\bullet} \otimes m_{\bullet} \otimes m'_{\bullet})$. (Indeed, this expression is a priori only a

function holomorphic when restricted to each $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{b}^{\times n}$; that it is holomorphic on $\operatorname{Conf}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}})$ (i.e., holomorphic when *b* also varies) is due to Thm. 7.1.) Thus, we can define

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\ell}^{n} \phi(v_{1}, \dots, v_{n}, w_{\bullet}) \qquad \in \mathscr{O}(\operatorname{Conf}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}))[[q_{1}^{\pm 1}, \dots, q_{M}^{\pm 1}]]$$
(62)

using (60). Similarly, with the aid of Thm. 7.1 we can define

$$\mathcal{C}^{n}\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}\phi(v_{1},\ldots,v_{n},w_{\bullet}) \qquad \in \mathscr{O}\left(\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho_{\bullet}}^{\times} \times \operatorname{Conf}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}})\right) \tag{63}$$

whose restriction to each $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{b}^{\times n}$ is $\wr^{n} \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\phi|_{b})(v_{1}, \dots, v_{n}, w_{\bullet})$.

Consider (63) at the level of $\mathscr{O}(\operatorname{Conf}_{\widetilde{B}}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}))[[q_1^{\pm 1}, \dots, q_M^{\pm 1}]]$. By applying Thm. 9.1 to $\phi|_b$, we see that the coefficients before q_1, \dots, q_N of (62) and (63) agree when restricted to each $\widetilde{C}_b^{\times n}$. So (62) = (63). In particular, (62) converges a.l.u. on $\mathcal{D}_{r,\rho}^{\times} \times \operatorname{Conf}_{\widetilde{B}}(U_{\bullet} \setminus S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}})$.

A geometric construction of permutation-twisted *№^k*-modules

Let \mathbb{U} be a (positive energy) VOA, and let g be an automorphism of \mathbb{U} fixing the vacuum and the conformal vector of \mathbb{U} . In particular, g preserves the L_0 -grading of \mathbb{U} . We assume g has finite order k.

A (finitely-admissible) *g*-twisted \mathbb{U} -module is a vector space \mathcal{W} together with a diagonalizable operator \widetilde{L}_0^g , and an operation

$$Y^{g}: \mathbb{U} \otimes \mathcal{W} \to \mathcal{W}[[z^{\pm 1/k}]]$$
$$u \otimes w \mapsto Y^{g}(u, z)w = \sum_{n \in \frac{1}{k}\mathbb{Z}} Y^{g}(u)_{n}w \cdot z^{-n-1}$$

satisfying the following conditions:

(1) \mathcal{W} has \widetilde{L}_0^g -grading $\mathcal{W} = \bigoplus_{n \in \frac{1}{k} \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{W}(n)$, each eigenspace $\mathcal{W}(n)$ is finitedimensional, and for any $u \in \mathbb{U}$ we have

$$[\tilde{L}_0^g, Y^g(u)_n] = Y^g(L_0 u)_n - (n+1)Y^g(u)_n.$$
(64)

In particular, for each $w \in W$ the lower truncation condition follows: $Y^{g}(u)_{n}w = 0$ when *n* is sufficiently small.

- (2) $Y^{g}(\mathbf{1}, z) = \mathbf{1}_{W}$.
- (3) (g-equivariance) For each $u \in \mathbb{U}$,

$$Y^{g}(gu, z) = Y^{g}(u, e^{-2i\pi}z) := \sum_{n \in \frac{1}{k}\mathbb{Z}} Y^{g}(u)_{n} w \cdot e^{2(n+1)i\pi}z^{-n-1}.$$
 (65)

(4) (Jacobi identity-analytic version) Let $\mathcal{W}' = \bigoplus_{n \in \frac{1}{k} \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{W}(n)^*$. Let P_n be the projection of $\overline{\mathcal{W}} = \coprod_{n \in \frac{1}{k} \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{W}(n)^*$ (the dual space of \mathcal{W}') onto $\mathcal{W}(n)$ and similarly $\overline{\mathbb{U}}$ (the dual space of \mathbb{U}') onto $\mathbb{U}(n)$. Then for each $u, v \in$

 $\mathbb{U}, w \in \mathcal{W}, w' \in \mathcal{W}'$, and for each $z \neq \xi$ in \mathbb{C}^{\times} with chosen arg ξ , the following series of *n*

$$\langle Y^{g}(u,z)Y^{g}(v,\xi)w,w'\rangle := \sum_{n\in\frac{1}{k}\mathbb{N}} \langle Y^{g}(u,z)P_{n}Y^{g}(v,\xi)w,w'\rangle$$
(66)

$$\langle Y^{g}(v,\xi)Y^{g}(u,z)w,w'\rangle := \sum_{n\in\frac{1}{\tau}\mathbb{N}} \langle Y^{g}(v,\xi)P_{n}Y^{g}(u,z)w,w'\rangle$$
(67)

$$\langle Y^{g}(Y(u,z-\xi)v,\xi)w,w'\rangle := \sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \langle Y^{g}(P_{n}Y(u,z-\xi)v,\xi)w,w'\rangle$$
(68)

(where ξ is fixed) converge a.l.u. for z in $|z| > |\xi|$, $|z| < |\xi|$, $|z - \xi| < |\xi|$ respectively. Moreover, for any fixed $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ with chosen argument arg ξ , let R_{ξ} be the ray with argument arg ξ from 0 to ∞ , but with 0, ξ , ∞ removed. Any point on R_{ξ} is assumed to have argument arg ξ . Then the above three expressions, considered as functions of z defined on R_{ξ} satisfying the three mentioned inequalities respectively, can be analytically continued to the same holomorphic function on the open set

$$\Delta_{\xi} = \mathbb{C} \setminus \{\xi, -t\xi : t \ge 0\},\$$

which can furthermore be extended to a multivalued holomorphic function $f_{\xi}(z)$ on $\mathbb{C}^{\times} \setminus \{\xi\}$ (i.e., a holomorphic function on the universal cover of $\mathbb{C}^{\times} \setminus \{\xi\}$).

In the above Jacobi identity, if we let the series $\sum_n h_n(z)$ be any of (66), (67), (68), then by saying that this series converges a.l.u. for z in an open set Ω , we mean $\sup_{z \in K} \sum_n |f_n(z)| < +\infty$ for each compact $K \subset \Omega$; the sup is over all $z \in K$ with all possible arg z.

Remark 10.1. The above analytic version of Jacobi identity is equivalent to the usual algebraic one (cf. [Hua10, Thm. 2.4]). Indeed, assume without loss of generality that $gu = e^{2ij\pi/k}u$. Then the g-equivariance condition shows that $z^{\frac{j}{k}}Y^{g}(u,z)$ is single-valued over z. Thus, $z^{\frac{j}{k}}$ times (66), (67), (68) are series expansions on $|z| > |\xi|, |z| < |\xi|, |z - \xi| < |\xi|$ respectively (not necessarily restricting to R_{ξ}) of the same single-valued holomorphic function $z^{\frac{j}{k}}f_{\xi}$ on $\mathbb{C}^{\times} \setminus \{\xi\}$. By Strong Residue Theorem, this is equivalent to that for each $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\Big(\oint_{|z|=2|\xi|} - \oint_{|z|=|\xi|/3} - \oint_{|z-\xi|=|\xi|/3} \Big) z^{\frac{j}{k}+m} (z-\xi)^n f_{\xi}(z) dz = 0,$$

where in these integrals, $f_{\xi}(z)$ is replaced by (66), (67), (68) respectively. Equivalently,

$$\sum_{l\in\mathbb{N}} {\binom{j}{k} + m \choose l} \langle Y^g(Y(u)_{n+l}v,\xi)w,w'\rangle \xi^{\frac{j}{k}+m-l}$$

$$= \sum_{l\in\mathbb{N}} {\binom{n}{l}} (-1)^l \langle Y^g(u)_{\frac{j}{k}+m+n-l}Y^g(v,\xi)w,w'\rangle \xi^l$$

$$- \sum_{l\in\mathbb{N}} {\binom{n}{l}} (-1)^{n-l} \langle Y^g(v,\xi)Y^g(u)_{\frac{j}{k}+m+l}w,w'\rangle \xi^{n-l}.$$
(69)

By comparing the coefficients before ξ^{-h-1} , the above is equivalent to that for each $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}, h \in \frac{1}{k}\mathbb{Z}$, (suppressing w, w')

$$\sum_{l \in \mathbb{N}} {\binom{\frac{j}{k} + m}{l}} Y^{g}(Y(u)_{n+l} v)_{\frac{j}{k} + m+h-l}$$

= $\sum_{l \in \mathbb{N}} {\binom{n}{l}} (-1)^{l} Y^{g}(u)_{\frac{j}{k} + m+n-l} Y^{g}(v)_{h+l} - \sum_{l \in \mathbb{N}} {\binom{n}{l}} (-1)^{n-l} Y^{g}(v)_{n+h-l} Y^{g}(u)_{\frac{j}{k} + m+l}$
(70)

which is the algebraic Jacobi identity.

Construction of twisted representations associated to cyclic permutation actions of $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes k}$. We let $\mathbb{U} = \mathbb{V}^{\otimes k}$ with conformal vector $\mathbf{c} \otimes \mathbf{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbf{1} + \cdots + \mathbf{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbf{1} \otimes \mathbf{c}$, and g an automorphism defined by

$$g: (v_1, v_2, \dots, v_k) \in \mathbb{V}^{\otimes k} \mapsto (v_k, v_1, \dots, v_{k-1}).$$

For each \mathbb{V} -module with \widetilde{L}_0 -operator, we define a *g*-twisted \mathbb{U} -module \mathcal{W} as follows.

As a vector space, $\mathcal{W} = \mathbb{W}$. We define $\widetilde{L}_0^g = \frac{1}{k}\widetilde{L}_0$.

Let ζ be the standard coordinate of \mathbb{C} . Let $\hat{\mathfrak{X}} = (\mathbb{P}^1; 0, \infty)$. We associate to $0, \infty$ local coordinates local coordinates ζ, ζ^{-1} and \mathbb{V} -modules \mathbb{W}, \mathbb{W}' . Note

$$\mathcal{U}(\zeta,\zeta^{-1}):\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}\otimes\mathbb{W}')\xrightarrow{\simeq}\mathbb{W}\otimes\mathbb{W}'$$

Let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ be the pairing for \mathbb{W} and \mathbb{W}' . We define a conformal block

$$\begin{split} \tau_{\mathbb{W}} &: \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{W}') \to \mathbb{C}, \\ \mathcal{U}(\eta_0, \eta_\infty)^{-1}(w \otimes w') \mapsto \langle w, w' \rangle \end{split}$$

whenever the local coordinates η_0, η_∞ at $0, \infty$ are such that $(\mathbb{P}^1; 0, \infty; \eta_0, \eta_\infty) \simeq (\mathbb{P}^1; 0, \infty; \zeta, \zeta^{-1})$. It is easy to see that this definition is independent of the choice of such η_0, η_∞ .

In the setting of Thm. 8.2, we have

$$\mathcal{U}^{k}\tau_{\mathbb{W}}:\underbrace{\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{C}^{\times})\otimes\cdots\otimes\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{C}^{\times})}_{k}\otimes\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}\otimes\mathbb{W}')\to\mathscr{O}(\mathrm{Conf}^{k}(\mathbb{C}^{\times}))$$

where all the \otimes are over \mathbb{C} . Let

$$\omega_k = e^{-2\mathbf{i}\pi/k}.$$

Since ζ^k : $z \mapsto z^k$ is locally injective holomorphic on \mathbb{C}^{\times} , we have a trivilization

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\zeta^k): \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}|_{\mathbb{C}^{\times}} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{C}^{\times}}.$$

Then, for each $w \in \mathbb{W}, w' \in \mathbb{W}'$, and for each $v_1, \dots, v_n \in \mathbb{V}$ (considered as a constant section of $\mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}(\mathbb{C}^{\times})$) we define, for $v_{\bullet} = v_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes v_k \in \mathbb{V}^{\otimes k}$,

$$\langle Y^{g}(v_{\bullet}, z)w, w' \rangle$$

$$= \iota^{k} \tau_{\mathbb{W}} \Big(\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\zeta^{k})^{-1}v_{1}, \dots, \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\zeta^{k})^{-1}v_{k}, \mathcal{U}(\zeta, \zeta^{-1})^{-1}(w \otimes w') \Big) \Big|_{\omega_{k}^{\star^{-1}} \sqrt[k]{z}}$$

$$(71)$$

where, for each $z \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ with argument arg z,

$$\omega_k^{\bullet-1}\sqrt[k]{z} := (\sqrt[k]{z}, \omega_k\sqrt[k]{z}, \omega_k^2\sqrt[k]{z}, \dots, \omega_k^{k-1}\sqrt[k]{z}) \quad \in \operatorname{Conf}^k(\mathbb{C}^{\times}), \quad (72)$$

and $\sqrt[k]{z}$ is assumed to have argument $\frac{1}{k} \arg z$.

(71) is a multi-valued function of z, single-valued of $\sqrt[k]{z} \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. So we have Laurent series expansion

$$\langle Y^{g}(v_{\bullet}, z)w, w' \rangle = \sum_{n \in \frac{1}{k} \mathbb{Z}} \langle Y^{g}(v_{\bullet})_{n}w, w' \rangle z^{-n-1}$$

which defines $Y^g(v_{\bullet})_n$ as a linear map $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{W}' \to \mathbb{C}$.

Lemma 10.2. Each $Y^{g}(v_{\bullet})_{n}$ is a linear operator on \mathbb{W} . Moreover, (64) is satisfied. **Proof.** For each $q \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ with chosen arg q, by (22) we have

$$\mathcal{U}(q^{\frac{1}{k}}\zeta,q^{-\frac{1}{k}}\zeta^{-1})\mathcal{U}(\zeta,\zeta^{-1})^{-1}=q^{\frac{1}{k}\widetilde{L}_0}\otimes q^{-\frac{1}{k}\widetilde{L}_0}=q^{\widetilde{L}_0^g}\otimes q^{-\widetilde{L}_0^g}.$$

Thus

$$\langle Y^{g}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{z})q^{-\widetilde{L}_{0}^{g}}\boldsymbol{w},q^{\widetilde{L}_{0}^{g}}\boldsymbol{w}'\rangle$$

$$= \iota^{k} \tau_{\mathbb{W}} \Big(\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\zeta^{k})^{-1}\boldsymbol{v}_{1},\ldots,\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\zeta^{k})^{-1}\boldsymbol{v}_{k},\mathcal{U}(q^{\frac{1}{k}}\zeta,q^{-\frac{1}{k}}\zeta^{-1})^{-1}(\boldsymbol{w}\otimes\boldsymbol{w}') \Big) \Big|_{\boldsymbol{\omega}_{k}^{\star-1}\sqrt[k]{z}}.$$
(73)

We have an equivalence of pointed Riemann spheres with locally injective functions and local coordinates (at the last two marked points)

$$(\mathbb{P}^{1};\omega_{k}^{\bullet-1}\sqrt[k]{z},0,\infty;\zeta^{k},q^{\frac{1}{k}}\zeta,q^{-\frac{1}{k}}\zeta^{-1}))$$
$$\simeq (\mathbb{P}^{1};\omega_{k}^{\bullet-1}\sqrt[k]{qz},0,\infty;q^{-1}\zeta^{k},\zeta,\zeta^{-1})$$

defined by $z \in \mathbb{P}^1 \mapsto \sqrt[k]{q} z \in \mathbb{P}^1$, where $\sqrt[k]{q}$ has argument $\frac{1}{k} \arg q$. By (19) and (17), on \mathbb{V} we have

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\zeta^k)\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(q^{-1}\zeta^k)^{-1}=\mathcal{U}(\varrho(\zeta^k|q^{-1}\zeta^k))=q^{L_0}.$$

So (73) equals

$$\begin{split} & \left. \left. \left. \mathcal{U}_{\varphi}(q^{-1}\zeta^{k})^{-1}v_{1}, \dots, \mathcal{U}_{\varphi}(q^{-1}\zeta^{k})^{-1}v_{k}, \mathcal{U}(\zeta, \zeta^{-1})^{-1}(w \otimes w') \right) \right|_{\omega_{k}^{\star-1} \sqrt[k]{qz}} \\ &= \left. \left. \left. \left. \mathcal{U}_{\varphi}(\zeta^{k})^{-1}q^{L_{0}}v_{1}, \dots, \mathcal{U}_{\varphi}(\zeta^{k})^{-1}q^{L_{0}}v_{k}, \mathcal{U}(\zeta, \zeta^{-1})^{-1}(w \otimes w') \right) \right|_{\omega_{k}^{\star-1} \sqrt[k]{qz}} \right. \end{split}$$

We conclude

$$\langle Y^{g}(v_{\bullet},z)q^{-\widetilde{L}_{0}^{g}}w,q^{\widetilde{L}_{0}^{g}}w'\rangle = \langle Y^{g}(q^{L_{0}}v_{\bullet},qz)w,w'\rangle.$$

So, if
$$L_0 v_{\bullet} = \alpha v_{\bullet}$$
, $\widetilde{L}_0^g w = \beta w$, $\widetilde{L}_0^g w' = \gamma w'$, then
 $\langle Y^g(v_{\bullet}, z)w, w' \rangle = q^{\alpha + \beta - \gamma} \langle Y^g(v_{\bullet}, qz)w, w' \rangle$,

which shows, by looking at the coefficients before z^{-n-1} , that $\langle Y^{g}(v_{\bullet})_{n}w, w' \rangle$ equals 0 unless $\alpha + \beta - \gamma - n - 1 = 0$. This proves $Y^{g}(v_{\bullet})_{n} \mathcal{W}(\beta) \subset \mathcal{W}(\alpha + \beta - n - 1)$. In particular, $Y^g(v_{\bullet})_n$ can be regarded as a linear operator on \mathcal{W} .

Using part (3) and (4) of Thm. 8.2, it is easy to show $Y^{g}(\mathbf{1}, z) = \mathbf{1}_{W}$ and show (65). Moreover:

Theorem 10.3. Y^g satisfies the Jacobi identity. Therefore, (W, Y^g) is a g-twisted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes k}$ -module.

Proof. Choose the two vectors of \mathbb{U} to be $u_{\bullet} = u_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes u_k$, $v_{\bullet} = v_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes v_k \in$ $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes k}$. Identify $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}\otimes\mathbb{W}') = \mathbb{W}\otimes\mathbb{W}'$ via $\mathcal{U}(\zeta, \zeta^{-1})$. Identify $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}|_{\mathbb{C}^{\times}} = \mathbb{V}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{C}^{\times}}$ via $\mathcal{U}_{\rho}(\zeta^k)$. For each $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ with chosen arg ξ , we define

$$f_{\xi}(z) = \langle {}^{2k} \tau_{\mathbb{W}}(u_1, \dots, u_k, v_1, \dots, v_k, w \otimes w') \Big|_{\omega_k^{\bullet - 1} \, \sqrt[k]{z}, \, \omega_k^{\bullet - 1} \, \sqrt[k]{\xi}}$$
(74)

where $\omega_k^{\bullet-1}\sqrt[k]{\xi}$ is a *k*-tuple understood in a similar way as (72). Then f_{ξ} is a multivalued holomorphic function which lifts to a single-valued one on the kfold covering space $\mathbb{C}^{\times} \setminus (\omega_k^{\bullet-1}\sqrt[k]{\xi})$ of $\mathbb{C}^{\times} \setminus \{\xi\}$. Let $(m_{n,\alpha})_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}}$ be a set of basis of $\mathbb{W}(n)$ with dual basis $(\check{m}_{n,\alpha})_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}}$. Assume

 $0 < |z| < |\xi|$. We shall show that the following infinite sum over *n*

$$\langle Y^{g}(\upsilon,\xi)Y^{g}(u,z)w,w'\rangle$$

$$= \sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\sum_{\alpha\in\mathfrak{A}} \iota^{k}\tau_{\mathbb{W}}(u_{1},\ldots,u_{k},w\otimes\breve{m}_{n,\alpha})_{\omega_{k}^{\star-1}}\psi_{\overline{z}}$$

$$\cdot \iota^{k}\tau_{\mathbb{W}}(\upsilon_{1},\ldots,\upsilon_{k},m_{n,\alpha}\otimes w')_{\omega_{k}^{\star-1}}\psi_{\overline{\xi}}$$

$$(75)$$

converges a.l.u. to $f_{\xi}(z)$. Indeed, this expression is the sewing at q = 1 of the 2k-propagation of the conformal block

$$\Phi: \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{W}' \otimes \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{W}' \to \mathbb{C},$$
$$w_1 \otimes w_1' \otimes w_2 \otimes w_2' \mapsto \langle w_1, w_1' \rangle \cdot \langle w_2, w_2' \rangle$$

associated to $(\mathbb{P}^1_a \sqcup \mathbb{P}^1_b; 0_a, \infty_a, 0_b, \infty_b)$. Here, $\mathbb{P}^1_a, \mathbb{P}^1_b$ are two identical Riemann spheres. The sewing is along ∞_a and 0_b using local coordinates ζ, ζ^{-1} , and

by choosing suitable open discs $W' \ni \infty_a, W'' \ni 0_b$ with radius r, ρ satisfying $r\rho > 1$ such that W', W'' do not intersect $\omega_k^{\bullet-1}\sqrt[k]{z}$ and $\omega_k^{\bullet-1}\sqrt[k]{\xi}$. (Note that $|z| < |\xi|$ guarantees the existence of such W', W''.) Since the sewing of ϕ clearly converges a.l.u. on $\mathcal{D}_{r\rho}^{\times}$, by Thm. 9.1, the sewing at q = 1 of $\ell^{2k}\phi$ (which is (75)) converges a.l.u. (for varying z) to the 2k-propagation of the sewing, which is just $f_{\xi}(z)$. A similar argument shows that when $0 < |\xi| < |z|$, $\langle Y^g(u_{\bullet}, z)Y^g(v_{\bullet}, \xi)w, w' \rangle$ converges a.l.u. (for varying z) to $f_{\xi}(z)$.

Consider $g_{\xi} \in \operatorname{Conf}^k(\mathbb{C} \setminus \omega_k^{\bullet - 1} \sqrt[k]{\xi})$ defined by

$$g_{\xi}(z_1,\ldots,z_k) = \ell^{2k} \tau_{\mathbb{W}}(u_1,\ldots,u_k,v_1,\ldots,v_k,w\otimes w')\Big|_{z_1,\ldots,z_k,\ \omega_k^{\star-1}\sqrt[k]{\xi}}.$$

The region $\Omega = \{z \in \mathbb{C}^{\times} : |z^k - \xi| < |\xi|\}$ has *k* connected components $\Omega_1, ..., \Omega_k$, each one Ω_i contains exactly one element $\omega_k^{i-1}\sqrt[k]{\xi}$ of $\omega_k^{\bullet-1}\sqrt[k]{\xi}$, and $\Omega_i \simeq \zeta^k(\Omega_i)$ where $\zeta^k(\Omega_i)$ is the open disc with center ξ and radius $|\xi|$. By Thm. 8.2 and the definition (71), whenever $z_i \in \Omega_i$ for each *i*, we have (letting $x_1, ..., x_k$ be formal variables)

$$g_{\xi}(z_{1},...,z_{k}) = \lambda^{k} \tau_{\mathbb{W}}(Y(u_{1},x_{1})v_{1},...,Y(u_{k},x_{k})v_{k},w\otimes w')\Big|_{\omega_{k}^{*-1}\sqrt[k]{\xi}}\Big|_{x_{k}=z_{k}^{k}-\xi} \cdots\Big|_{x_{1}=z_{1}^{k}-\xi} = \langle Y^{g}(Y(u_{1},x_{1})v_{1}\otimes\cdots\otimes Y(u_{k},x_{k})v_{k},\xi)w,w'\rangle\Big|_{x_{k}=z_{k}^{k}-\xi} \cdots\Big|_{x_{1}=z_{1}^{k}-\xi}.$$
(76)

where the right hand side converges absolutely and successively for $x_k, ..., x_1$. Since the simultaneous Laurent series expansion of the holomorphic function $h(x_1, ..., x_k) = g_{\xi}(\sqrt[k]{\xi} + x_1, \omega_k \sqrt[k]{\xi} + x_2, ..., \omega_k^{k-1} \sqrt[k]{\xi} + x_k)$ in the region $0 < |x_i| < |\xi|$ (for all *i*) clearly converges a.l.u., and since the coefficients of these series agree with those before the powers of $x_1, ..., x_k$ on the right hand side of (76) (by taking Laurent series expansion through contour integrals), we see that (76) converges absolutely (as a multi-variable series) to $g_{\xi}(z_1, ..., z_k)$ at the desired points.

Now we assume $0 < |z - \xi| < |\xi|$, assume $\arg z$ is such that $\sqrt[k]{z} \in \Omega_1 \ni \sqrt[k]{\xi}$ (which is true when $\arg z = \arg \xi$), and set $(z_1, \dots, z_k) = \omega_k^{\bullet - 1} \sqrt[k]{z}$. Then we see that $\langle Y^g(Y(u_{\bullet}, z - \xi)v_{\bullet}, \xi)w, w' \rangle$ converges a.l.u. to $g_{\xi}(\omega_k^{\bullet - 1}\sqrt[k]{z}) = f_{\xi}(z)$. This finishes the verification of the Jacobi identity.

Remark 10.4. Using Thm. 8.2, it is easy to see that

$$\langle {}^{k}\tau_{\mathbb{W}}(\mathbf{1},\cdots,\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\zeta)^{-1}v_{i},\cdots,\mathbf{1},w\otimes w')|_{z}=\langle Y(v,z)w,w'\rangle.$$

By (19), $\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\zeta)\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\zeta^k)^{-1} = \mathcal{U}(\varrho(\zeta|\zeta^k))$. Thus, when $v_{\bullet} = v_1 \otimes \mathbf{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbf{1}$, (71) becomes

$$\langle Y(\mathcal{U}(\varrho(\zeta|\zeta^k)_{\sqrt[k]{z}})v_1,\sqrt[k]{z})w,w'\rangle.$$

By (17), $\rho(\zeta | \zeta^k)_{\sqrt[k]{z}}$ sends $z_1^k - z$ to $z_1 - \sqrt[k]{z}$ when z_1 is close to $\sqrt[k]{z}$. Hence this transformation equals $\delta_{k,z}$ where

$$\delta_{k,z}(t) = (z+t)^{\frac{1}{k}} - z^{\frac{1}{k}}.$$

We conclude

$$Y^{g}(v_{1} \otimes \mathbf{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbf{1}, z) = Y(\mathcal{U}(\delta_{k,z})v_{1}, \sqrt[k]{z}).$$
⁽⁷⁷⁾

This equation uniquely determines the g-twisted module structure of \mathcal{W} , since $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes k}$ is g-generated by vectors of the form $v_1 \otimes \mathbf{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbf{1}$.

It is not hard to check that $\mathcal{U}(\delta_{k,z})$ agrees with the operator $\Delta_k(z)$ in [BDM02]. Thus, our g-twisted module (\mathcal{W}, Y^g) agrees with $(T_g^k(\mathbb{W}), Y_g)$ in Theorem 3.9 of [BDM02].

Appendix A. Strong residue theorem for analytic families of curves

Let $\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}; \varsigma_1, ..., \varsigma_N)$ be a (holomorphic) family of *N*-pointed compact Riemann surfaces. Recall the definition in Sec. 2. In particular, we assume each connected component of each fiber $\mathcal{C}_b = \pi^{-1}(b)$ contains at least one of $\varsigma_1(b), ..., \varsigma_N(b)$. We let \mathscr{E} be a holomorphic vector bundle on \mathcal{C} with finite rank, and let \mathscr{E}^{\vee} be its dual bundle.

We assume that \mathfrak{X} is equipped with local coordinates $\eta_1, ..., \eta_N$ at the marked points $\varsigma_1(\mathcal{B}), ..., \varsigma_N(\mathcal{B})$ respectively. Assume for each *j* that η_j is defined on a neighborhood $W_j \subset \mathcal{C}$ of $\varsigma_j(\mathcal{B})$ which intersects only the point $\varsigma_j(\mathcal{B})$ among $\varsigma_1(\mathcal{B}), ..., \varsigma_N(\mathcal{B})$, and that there is a trivialization

$$\mathscr{E}_j|_{W_j} \simeq E_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{W_j}$$

with dual trivialization

$$\mathscr{E}_{j}^{\vee}|_{W_{j}} \simeq E_{j}^{\vee} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}_{W_{j}},$$

where E_j is a finite-dimensional vector space and E_j^{\vee} is its dual space. We identify $\mathscr{E}_i|_{W_i}$ and $\mathscr{E}^{\vee}|_{W_i}$ with their trivializations.

For each *j*, we identify

$$W_j = (\pi, \eta_j)(W_j)$$
 via (π, η_j)

Then W_j is a neighborhood of $\mathcal{B} \times \{0\}$ in $\mathcal{B} \times \mathbb{C}$. We let *z* be the standard coordinate of \mathbb{C} . Consider

$$s_j = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e_{j,n} \cdot z^n \qquad \in (E_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}(\mathscr{B}))((z)), \tag{78}$$

where each $e_{j,n} \in E_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{O}(\mathscr{B})$ is 0 when *n* is sufficiently small. Considering $e_{j,n}$ as an E_j -valued holomorphic on $\mathscr{O}(\mathscr{B})$, we let $e_{j,n}(b) \in E_j$ be its value at $b \in \mathscr{B}$. Then $s_i(b)$, the restriction of s_j to \mathcal{C}_b , is represented by

$$s_j(b) = \sum_n e_{j,n}(b) z^n \qquad \in E_j((z)).$$

Suppose that *s* is a section of $\mathscr{E}(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}})$ defined on W_j . Then $s|_{W_j} = s|_{W_j}(b, z)$ is an E_j -valued meromorphic function on W_j with poles at z = 0. We say that *s* **has series expansion** s_j **at** $\varsigma_j(\mathcal{B})$ if for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, the meromorphic function $s|_{W_i}(b, z)$ of *z* has Laurent series expansion (78) at z = 0.

For each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, choose $\sigma_b \in H^0(\mathcal{C}_b, \mathscr{E}^{\vee}|_{\mathcal{C}_b} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}_b}(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}))$. Then in $W_{j,b} = W_j \cap \pi^{-1}(B)$, σ_b can be regarded as an $E_j^{\vee} \otimes dz$ -valued holomorphic function but with possibly finite poles at z = 0. So it has series expansion at z = 0:

$$\sigma_b|_{W_{j,b}}(z) = \sum_n \phi_{j,n} z^n dz \qquad \in E_j^{\vee}((z)) dz$$

where $\phi_{j,n} \in E_j^{\vee}$. We define the residue pairing

$$\operatorname{Res}_{j}\langle s_{j}, \sigma_{b} \rangle = \operatorname{Res}_{z=0}\langle s_{j}(b), \sigma_{b}|_{U_{j},b}(z) \rangle$$
$$= \operatorname{Res}_{z=0}\left(\left\langle \sum_{n} e_{j,n}(b) z^{n}, \sum_{n} \phi_{j,n} z^{n} \right\rangle dz \right).$$
(79)

in which the pairing between E_j and E_j^{\vee} is denoted by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$.

We now prove the Strong Residue Theorem for \mathscr{E} . Our proof is inspired by that of [Ueno08, Thm. 1.22].

Theorem A.1. For each $1 \le j \le N$, choose s_j as in (78). Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) There exists $s \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, \mathscr{E}(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ whose series expansion at $\varsigma_j(\mathcal{B})$ (for each $1 \leq j \leq N$) is s_j .

(b) For each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, there exists $s_b \in H^0(\mathcal{C}_b, \mathcal{E}|_{\mathcal{C}_b}(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}))$ whose series expansion at $\varsigma_j(b)$ (for each $1 \le j \le N$) is $s_j(b)$.

(c) For any $b \in \mathcal{B}$ and any $\sigma_b \in H^0(\mathcal{C}_b, \mathscr{E}^{\vee}|_{\mathcal{C}_b} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}_b}(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}))$,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} \operatorname{Res}_{j} \langle s_{j}, \sigma_{b} \rangle = 0.$$
(80)

Moreover, when these statements hold, there is only one $s \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, \mathscr{E}(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ satisfying (a).

Proof. (a) trivially implies (b). That (b) implies (c) follows from Residue theorem (i.e., Stokes theorem): The evaluation between s_b and σ_b is an element of $H^0(\mathcal{C}_b, \omega_{\mathcal{C}_b}(\star S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}))$ whose total residue over all poles is 0.

If *s* satisfies (a), then for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, $s|_{\mathcal{C}_b}$ is uniquely determined by its series expansions near $\varsigma_1(b), \dots, \varsigma_N(b)$ (since each component of \mathcal{C}_b contains some $\varsigma_i(b)$). Therefore the sections satisfying (a) is unique.

Now assume (c) is true. We shall prove (a). Suppose that for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$ we can find a neighborhood $V \subset \mathcal{B}$ such that an *s* satisfying (a) exists for the family \mathfrak{X}_V . Then, by the uniqueness proved above, we can glue all these locally defined *s* to a global one. Thus, we may shrink \mathcal{B} to a small neighborhood of a given $b_0 \in \mathcal{B}$ when necessary.

We first note that, by replacing \mathcal{B} with a neighborhood of a given $b_0 \in \mathcal{B}$, we may assume $\pi_* \mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}}) = 0$ for sufficiently large k. Indeed, choose any $b_0 \in \mathcal{B}$. Then by Serre duality,

$$H^0(\mathcal{C}_b, \mathscr{E}|_{\mathcal{C}_b}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}_b})) \simeq H^1(\mathcal{C}_b, \mathscr{E}^{\vee}|_{\mathcal{C}_b} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}_b}(kS_{\mathfrak{X}_b})), \tag{81}$$

which, by Serre vanishing theorem, equals 0 for some $k = k_0$ when $b = b_0$. Since π is open, \mathfrak{X} is a flat family ([GPR, Thm. II.2.13] or [Fis76, Sec. 3.20]). Thus, we can apply the upper-semicontinuity theorem ([GPR, Thm. III.4.7] or [BS76, Thm. III.4.12]) to see that (81) vanishes for $k = k_0$ and (by shrinking \mathcal{B} to a neighborhood of b_0) any $b \in \mathcal{B}$. Since the vector space $H^0(\mathcal{C}_b, \mathscr{E}|_{\mathcal{C}_b}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}_b}))$ shrinks as k increases, (81) is constantly zero for all $b \in \mathcal{B}$ and $k \ge k_0$. This implies $\pi_*\mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}}) = 0$ for all $k \ge k_0$ ([GPR, Thm. III.4.7-(d)] or [BS76, Cor. III.3.5]).

Choose $p \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for each $1 \le j \le N$, the $e_{j,n}$ in (78) equals 0 when n < -p. For any $k \ge k_0$, as $\pi_* \mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}}) = 0$, the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to \mathscr{E}(pS_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to \mathscr{E}(pS_{\mathfrak{X}})/\mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to 0$$

induces a long one

$$0 \to \pi_* \mathscr{E}(pS_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to \pi_* \big(\mathscr{E}(pS_{\mathfrak{X}}) / \mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}}) \big) \xrightarrow{\delta} R^1 \pi_* \mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}}).$$
(82)

For each $1 \leq j \leq N$, set $s_j|_k = \sum_{n < k} e_{j,n} \cdot z^n$, which can be regarded as a section in $\mathscr{E}(pS_{\mathfrak{X}})(W_j)$. Let $W_0 = \mathscr{C} \setminus S_{\mathfrak{X}}$. Then $\mathfrak{U} = \{W_0, W_1, \dots, W_N\}$ is an open cover of \mathscr{C} . Define Čech 0-cocycle $\psi = (\psi_j)_{0 \leq j \leq N} \in Z^0(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{E}(pS_{\mathfrak{X}})/\mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ by setting

$$\psi_0 = 0, \qquad \psi_j = s_j|_k \quad (1 \le j \le N).$$

Then $\delta \psi = ((\delta \psi)_{i,j})_{0 \le i,j \le N} \in Z^1(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ is described as follows: $(\delta \psi)_{0,0} = 0$; if i, j > 0 then $(\delta \psi)_{i,j}$ is not defined since $W_i \cap W_j = \emptyset$; if $1 \le j \le N$ then $(\delta \psi)_{i,0} = -(\delta \psi)_{0,j}$ equals $s_j|_k$ (considered as a section in $\mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}})(W_j \cap W_0)$).

Consider $\delta \psi$ as a section of $R^1 \pi_* \mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}})$. We shall show that $\delta \psi = 0$. By the fact that (81) vanishes and the invariance of Euler characteristic,

$$\dim H^1(\mathcal{C}_b, (\mathscr{E}|_{\mathcal{C}_b})(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}_b}))$$

is locally constant over $b \in \mathcal{B}$, which shows that $R^1\pi_*(\mathcal{C}, \mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ is locally free and its fiber at *b* is naturally equivalent to $H^1(\mathcal{C}_b, (\mathscr{E}|_{\mathcal{C}_b})(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}_b}))$. (Cf. [GPR, Thm. III.4.7] or [BS76, Thm. III.4.12].) Thus, it suffices to show that for each fiber \mathcal{C}_b , the restriction $\delta \psi|_{\mathcal{C}_b} \in H^1(\mathcal{C}_b, \mathscr{E}|_{\mathcal{C}_b}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}_b}))$ is zero.

The residue pairing for the Serre duality

$$H^{1}(\mathcal{C}_{b}, \mathscr{E}|_{\mathcal{C}_{b}}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}})) \simeq H^{0}(\mathcal{C}_{b}, \mathscr{E}^{\vee}|_{\mathcal{C}_{b}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}_{b}}(kS_{\mathfrak{X}_{b}}))^{\top}$$

applied to $\delta \psi|_{\mathcal{C}_b}$ and any $\sigma_b \in H^0(\mathcal{C}_b, \mathscr{E}^{\vee}|_{\mathcal{C}_b} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}_b}(kS_{\mathfrak{X}_b}))$, is given by

$$\langle \delta \psi |_{\mathcal{C}_b}, \sigma_b \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^N \operatorname{Res}_j \langle s_j |_k, \sigma_b \rangle.$$

Since for each $1 \le j \le N$, $\langle s_j - s_j |_k, \sigma_b \rangle$ has removable singularity at z = 0, we have $\text{Res}_j \langle s_j - s_j |_k, \sigma_b \rangle = 0$. Therefore,

$$\langle \delta \psi |_{\mathcal{C}_b}, \sigma_b \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^N \operatorname{Res}_j \langle s_j, \sigma_b \rangle = 0.$$

Thus $\delta \psi|_{\mathcal{C}_b} = 0$ for any *b*. This proves that $\delta \psi = 0$.

By (82), for each $k \ge k_0$, there is a unique

$$s|_{k} \in (\pi_{*}\mathscr{E}(pS_{\mathfrak{X}}))(\mathscr{B}) = H^{0}(\mathscr{C},\mathscr{E}(pS_{\mathfrak{X}}))$$

which is sent to $\psi \in \pi_*(\mathscr{E}(pS_{\mathfrak{X}})/\mathscr{E}(-kS_{\mathfrak{X}}))(\mathscr{B})$. So near $\varsigma_j(\mathscr{B})$, $s|_k$ has series expansion

$$s|_{k} = s_{i}|_{k} + \bullet z^{k} + \bullet z^{k+1} + \cdots$$

$$(83)$$

By this uniqueness, we must have $s|_{k_0} = s|_{k_0+1} = s|_{k_0+2} = \cdots$. Let $s = s|_{k_0}$. Then *s* has series expansion s_j at $\zeta_j(\mathcal{B})$ for each *j*.

We remark that the above proof also applies to locally free sheaves over a proper flat family of pointed complex curves (with at worst nodal singularities) such that each $S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}$ does not intersect the node of \mathcal{C}_b , and that $S_{\mathfrak{X}_b}$ intersects each irreducible component of \mathcal{C}_b . This is because the residue pairing for Serre duality is described in the same way as in the smooth case.

References

- [BDM02] BARRON, KATRINA; DONG, CHONGYING; MASON, GEOFFREY. Twisted sectors for tensor product vertex operator algebras associated to permutation groups. *Commun. Math. Phys.* 227 (2002), No. 2, 349-384. MR1903649, Zbl 1073.17008, doi: 10.1007/s002200200633. 193, 225
- [BHL08] BARRON, KATRINA; HUANG, YI-ZHI; LEPOWSKY, JAMES. An equivalence of two constructions of permutation-twisted modules for lattice vertex operator algebras. *J. Pure Appl. Algebra* **210** No. 3, 797-826 (2007). MR2324608, Zbl 1207.17033, doi:10.1016/j.jpaa.2006.12.005. 193
- [BS76] BĂNICĂ, CONSTANTIN; STĂNĂŞILĂ, OCTAVIAN. Algebraic methods in the global theory of complex spaces. Editura Academiei, BucharestJohn Wiley & Sons, London-New York-Sydney, 1976. 296 pp. MR463470, Zbl 0334.32001, 227
- [Buhl02] BUHL, GEOFFREY. A spanning set for VOA modules. J. Algebra 254 (2002), no. 1, 125–151 MR1927435, Zbl 1037.17032, doi: 10.1016/S0021-8693(02)00056-X.
- [Cod19] CODOGNI, GIULIO. Vertex algebras and Teichmüller modular forms arXiv:1901.03079 187, 189, 190, 191, 194
- [DGT19a] DAMIOLINI, CHIARA; GIBNEY, ANGELA; TARASCA, NICOLA. Conformal blocks from vertex algebras and their connections on $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$. *Geom. Topol.* **25** (2021), no.5, 2235–2286. MR4310890, Zbl 1484.14011, doi: 10.2140/gt.2021.25.2235. 187, 188, 189, 190, 191

- [DGT19b] DAMIOLINI, CHIARA; GIBNEY, ANGELA; TARASCA, NICOLA. On factorization and vector bundles of conformal blocks from vertex algebras. arXiv:1909.04683 189, 194
- [DLM97] DONG, CHONGYING; LI, HAISHENG; MASON, GEOFFREY. Regularity of Rational Vertex Operator Algebras. Adv. Math. 132 (1997), no.1, 148–166. MR1488241, Zbl 0902.17014, doi: 10.1006/aima.1997.1681.197
- [DXY21] DONG, CHONGYING; XU, FENG; YU, NINA. Permutation orbifolds and associative algebras. Sci. China, Math. 65 (2022), no.2, 259–268. MR4372920, Zbl 1490.17032, doi:10.1007/s11425-021-1880-7. 193
- [FB04] FRENKEL, EDWARD; BEN-ZVI, DAVID. Vertex algebras and algebraic curves. Second edition. *Mathematical Surveys and Monographs* 88 American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2004. xiv+400 pp. MR2082709, Zbl 1106.17035, doi: 10.1090/surv/088. 187, 188, 189, 190, 194, 199, 201, 206
- [FHL93] FRENKEL, IGOR B.; HUANG, YI-ZHI; LEPOWSKY, JAMES. On axiomatic approaches to vertex operator algebras and modules. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.* 104 (1993), no.494, viii+64 pp. MR1142494, Zbl 0789.17022, doi: 10.1090/memo/0494. 198
- [Fis76] FISCHER, GERD. Complex analytic geometry. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1976. vii+201 pp. MR430286, Zbl 0343.32002. 227
- [GPR] GRAUERT, H. (ED.); PETERNELL, TH. (ED.); REMMERT, R. (ED.); GAMKRELIDZE, R. V. (ED.). Several complex variables VII. Sheaf-theoretical methods in complex analysis. *Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences.* 74 Berlin: Springer-Verlag. 369 p. (1994). MR1326617, Zbl 0793.00010, doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-09873-8. 227
- [Gui23] GUI, BIN. Convergence of Sewing Conformal Blocks. To appear, Commun. Contemp. Math. arXiv:2011.07450 189, 191, 194, 199, 201, 202, 203, 205
- [Gui21] GUI, BIN. Genus-zero Permutation-twisted Conformal Blocks for Tensor Product Vertex Operator Algebras: The Tensor-factorizable Case. arXiv:2111.04662 187, 193
- [Hua97] HUANG, YI-ZHI. Two-dimensional conformal geometry and vertex operator algebras. *Progr. Math.*, 148 (Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1997. xiv+280 pp. MR0884.17021, Zbl 0789.17022. 198, 201
- [Hua10] HUANG, YI-ZHI. Generalized twisted modules associated to general automorphisms of a vertex operator algebra. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 298 (2010), no.1, 265–292. MR2657819, Zbl 1233.17025, doi: 110.1007/s00220-010-0999-6. 193, 220
- [Li96] LI, HAISHENG. Local systems of twisted vertex operators, vertex operator superalgebras and twisted modules. *Moonshine, the Monster, and related topics (South Hadley, MA, 1994)* Contemp. Math., 193 American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1996 MR21372724, Zbl 0674.17001, doi: 10.1090/conm/193/02373. 193
- [TUY89] TSUCHIYA, AKIHIRO; UENO, KENJI; YAMADA, YASUHIKO. Conformal field theory on universal family of stable curves with gauge symmetries. *Integrable systems in quantum field theory and statistical mechanics*, 459–566. Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 19 Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1989 MR1048605, Zbl 0688.00013, doi: 10.2969/aspm/01910459. 189
- [Uen08] UENO, KENJI. Conformal field theory with gauge symmetry. *Fields Inst. Monogr.*, 24 American Mathematical Society, Providence, RIFields Institute for Research in Mathematical Sciences, Toronto, ON, 2008. viii+168 pp. MR2433154, Zbl 1188.81004, doi: 10.1090/fim/024. 191, 226
- [Zhu94] ZHU, YONGCHANG. Global vertex operators on Riemann surfaces. Comm. Math. Phys. 165 (1994), no.3, 485–531. MR1301621, Zbl 0819.17019. 187, 188, 189, 190, 191, 192, 193
- [Zhu96] ZHU, YONGCHANG. odular invariance of characters of vertex operator algebras. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 9 (1996), no.1, 237–302. MR1317233, Zbl 0854.17034, doi:10.1090/S0894-0347-96-00182-8.189, 190, 191

(Bin Gui) YAU MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES CENTER, TSINGHUA UNIVERSITY, BEIJING, CHINA binguimath@gmail.com bingui@tsinghua.edu.cn

This paper is available via http://nyjm.albany.edu/j/2024/30-7.html.